UC Berkeley

UC Berkeley Previously Published Works

Title

Science Impacts of the SPHEREx All-Sky Optical to Near-Infrared Spectral Survey II: Report of a Community Workshop on the Scientific Synergies Between the SPHEREx Survey and Other Astronomy Observatories

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1ds9z3k9

Authors

Doré, Olivier Werner, Michael W Ashby, Matthew LN <u>et al.</u>

Publication Date 2018-05-14

Peer reviewed

Science Impacts of the SPHEREx All-Sky Optical to Near-Infrared Spectral Survey II:

Report of a Community Workshop on the Scientific Synergies Between the SPHEREx Survey and Other Astronomy Observatories

Olivier Doré^{1,21}, Michael W. Werner^{1,21}, Matthew L. N. Ashby²⁶, Lindsey E. Bleem^{36,37}, Jamie Bock^{21,1}, Jennifer Burt³³, Peter Capak⁸, Tzu-Ching Chang^{1,21}, Jonás Chaves-Montero³⁶, Christine H. Chen³², Francesca Civano³², I. Ilsedore Cleeves³², Asantha Cooray²⁸, Brendan Crill^{1,21}, Ian J. M. Crossfield³⁹, Michael Cushing⁴, Sylvain de la Torre⁸, Tiziana DiMatteo²⁵, Niv Dvory³⁸, Cora Dvorkin⁴², Catherine Espaillat²², Simone Ferraro⁴⁰, Douglas Finkbeiner²⁶, Jenny Greene¹⁶, Jackie Hewitt³³, David W. Hogg¹⁰, Kevin Huffenberger⁶, Hyun-Sung Jun⁷, Olivier Ilbert⁹, Woong-Seob Jeong⁷, Jennifer Johnson¹⁸, Minjin Kim⁷, J.Davy Kirkpatrick⁸, Theresa Kowalski¹, Phil Korngut²¹, Jianshu Li¹³, Carey M. Lisse¹¹, Meredith MacGregor⁴³, Eric E. Mamajek¹, Phil Mauskopf³⁰, Gary Melnick²⁶, Brice Ménard¹⁴, Mark Neyrinck²³, Karin Öberg³¹, Alice Pisani¹⁶, Jennifer Rocca¹, Mara Salvato³⁵, Emmanuel Schaan^{40,41}, Nick Z. Scoville²¹, Yong-Seon Song⁷, Daniel J. Stevens¹⁸, Ananth Tenneti²⁵, Harry Teplitz⁸, Volker Tolls²⁶, Stephen Unwin¹, Meg Urry³⁴, Benjamin Wandelt^{12,15,19,20}, Benjamin F. Williams³¹, David Wilner²⁶, Rogier A. Windhorst³⁰, Scott Wolk²⁶, Harold W. Yorke⁵, Michael Zemcov^{27,1}

Editors and corresponding authors: Olivier Doré^{1,21}, Michael Werner^{1,21} (*olivier.dore@caltech.edu*, *michael.w.werner@jpl.nasa.gov*)

 1 Jet Propulsion Laboratory, California Institute of Technology, 4800 Oak Grove Drive, Pasadena, CA 91109, USA

² Universities Space Research Association, Stratospheric Observatory for Infrared Astronomy, NASA Ames Research Center, MS 232-11, Moffett Field, CA 94035, USA

³ ASIAA, AS/NTU, 1 Roosevelt Rd Sec 4, Taipei, 10617, Taiwan

 4 Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Toledo, 2801 W. Bancroft St., Toledo, OH 43606, USA

 5 USRA, SOFIA Science Center, Moffett Field, CA 94035-0001, USA

⁶ Department of Physics, Florida State University, PO Box 3064350, Tallahassee, Florida 32306-4350, USA

⁷ Korea Astronomy and Space Science Institute, Daejeon, 34055, Korea

⁸ IPAC, Caltech, 770 S. Wilson Ave, Pasadena, CA 91125, USA

⁹ Aix Marseille Univ, CNRS, LAM, Laboratoire dAstrophysique de Marseille, Marseille, France

¹⁰ Center for Cosmology and Particle Physics, Department of Physics, New York University, New York, NY 10003. USA

¹¹ JHU-APL, SES/SRE, Bldg 200/E206, 11100 Johns Hopkins Road, Laurel, MD 20723, USA

¹² Center for Computational Astrophysics, Flatiron Institute, 162 5th Ave, New York City, NY 10010, USA

¹³ Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Department of Physics, 70 Vassar Street, Bldg. 37-656, Cambridge, MA 02139, USA

¹⁴ Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, Johns Hopkins University, 3400 N. Charles St., Baltimore, MD 21218, USA

¹⁵ Institut dAstrophysique de Paris (IAP), UMR 7095, CNRS UPMC, Université Paris 6, Sorbonne Université, 98bis boulevard Arago, F-75014 Paris, France

¹⁶ Department of Astrophysical Sciences, Pevton Hall, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ 08544, USA

¹⁷ Physics & Astronomy Department, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN 37235, USA

¹⁸ Department of Astronomy, The Ohio State University, 140 W. 18th Avenue, Columbus, OH 43210 USA

¹⁹ Institut Lagrange de Paris (ILP), Sorbonne Université, 98bis boulevard Arago, F-75014 Paris, France

- ²⁰ Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 1002 W Green St, Urbana, IL 61801, USA
- ²¹ California Institute of Technology, 1200 E. California Blvd, Pasadena, CA 91125, USA
- ²² Department of Astronomy, Boston University, 725 Commonwealth Avenue Boston, MA 02215, USA
- ²³ Department of Theoretical Physics, University of the Basque Country UPV/EHU, 48080 Bilbao, Spain IKERBASQUE, Basque Foundation for Science, 48013 Bilbao, Spain

²⁴ Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, Johns Hopkins University, 3400 N. Charles St., Baltimore, MD 21218, USA

²⁵ McWilliams Center, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA 15213, USA

- ²⁶ Harvard Smithsonian CfA, 60 Garden St., Cambridge, MA 02138, USA
- ²⁷ Rochester Institute of Technology, Center for Detectors, 1 Lomb Memorial Drive, Rochester, NY 14623, USA
- ²⁸ University of California Irvine, 4186 Frederick Reines Hall, Irvine, CA 92697, USA
- ³⁰ Arizona State University, Department of Physics, P.O. Box 871504, Tempe, AZ 85287, USA
- ³¹ Astronomy Department, Box 531580, University of Washington, Seattle, WA 98195, USA
- ³² Space Telescope Science Institute, 3700 San Martin Dr., Baltimore, MD 21218, USA
- ³³ MIT Kavli Institute, Building 37, 70 Vassar Street, Cambridge, MA, USA
- ³⁴ Yale Center for Astronomy & Astrophysics, Yale University, New Haven, CT 06520, USA
- ³⁵ Cluster of Excellence, Boltzmann Strasse 2, 85748 Garching, Germany

³⁶ Argonne National Laboratory, High-Energy Physics Division, 9700 S. Cass Avenue, Argonne, IL 60439. USA

³⁷ Kavli Institute for Cosmological Physics, University of Chicago, 5640 South Ellis Avenue, Chicago, IL 60637. USA

³⁸ McDonald Observatory, Department of Astronomy, The University of Texas at Austin, 2515 Speedway, Austin, Texas 78712, USA

³⁹ Department of Physics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 77 Massachusetts Avenue, Cambridge, MA, USA

⁴⁰ Center for Cosmological Physics and Department of Astronomy, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA

⁴¹ Lawrence Berkelev National Laboratory, One Cyclotron Road, Berkelev, CA 94720, USA

⁴² Harvard University, Department of Physics, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA

⁴³ Carnegie Department of Terrestrial Magnetism, 5241 Broad Branch Road NW, Washington, D.C. 20008

Abstract. SPHEREx, the Spectro-Photometer for the History of the Universe, Epoch of Reionization, and Ices Explorer, is a proposed NASA MIDEX mission selected for Phase A study pointing to a downselect in early CY2019, leading to launch in CY2023. SPHEREx would carry out the first all-sky spectral survey at wavelengths between 0.75 and 2.42 μ m [with spectral resolution R=41], 2.42 and 3.82 μ m [with R=35], 3.82 and 4.42 μ m [with R=110], and 4.42 and 5.00 μ m [with R=130]. At the end of its two-year mission, SPHEREx would obtain 0.75-to-5 μ m spectra of every 6.2×6.2 arcsec pixel on the sky, with a 5-sigma sensitivity AB>19 per spectral/spatial resolution element. SPHEREx would obtain spectra of every sources in the 2MASS PSC (1.2 μ m, 1.6 μ m, 2.2 μ m) catalog to at least (40 σ , 60 σ , 150 σ) per spectral channel, and spectra with S/N ≥3 per frequency element of the faintest sources detected by WISE. More details concerning SPHEREx are available at http://spherex.caltech.edu. The SPHEREx team has proposed three specific science investigations to be carried out with this unique data set: cosmic inflation, interstellar and circumstellar ices, and the extra-galactic background light.

Though these three scientific issues are undoubtedly compelling, they are far from exhausting the scientific output of SPHEREX. Indeed, as Table 1 shows, SPHEREX would create a unique all-sky spectral database including spectra of very large numbers of astronomical and solar system targets, including both extended and diffuse sources. These spectra would enable a wide variety of scientific investigations, and the SPHEREx team is dedicated to making the SPHEREx data available to the scientific community to facilitate these investigations, which we refer to as Legacy Science. To that end, we have sponsored two workshops for the general scientific community to identify the most interesting Legacy Science themes and to ensure that the SPHEREX data products are responsive to their needs. In February of 2016, some 50 scientists from all scientific fields met in Pasadena to develop these themes and to understand their implications for the SPHEREX mission. The results of this initial workshop are reported in Doré et al., 2016. Among other things, discussions at the 2016 workshop highlighted many synergies between SPHEREX Legacy Science and other contemporaneous astronomical missions, facilities, and databases. Consequently, in January 2018 we convened a second workshop at the Center for Astrophysics in Cambridge to focus specifically on these synergies. This white paper, which contains substantial contributions from the participants, presents some of the highlights of the 2018 SPHEREx workshop.¹

¹© 2018. All rights reserved.

Contents

1	The	e SPHEREx Mission Concept	1			
2	No	Mission is an Island	2			
	2.1	SPHEREx in Context	2			
	2.2	SPHEREx and The Decade of Surveys	3			
3	2M	ASS and WISE	4			
4	JW	ST	5			
	4.1	Discovery Space	5			
	4.2	Characterizing galaxies over time	6			
	4.3	M dwarfs and Brown Dwarfs	7			
	4.4	Dust Around Main Sequence Stars	7			
	4.5	Interstellar Ices	10			
5	Euc	elid, WFIRST and LSST	11			
	5.1	The Distribution of Galaxies in Space and Time	11			
	5.2	Overlapping Deep Fields	11			
	5.3	Synergy between SPHEREx & Euclid: Focus on Photo- z and galaxy evolution	12			
		5.3.1 Creating an Euclid+SPHEREx mock catalog	12			
		5.3.2 Photometric redshifts	12			
		5.3.3 Scientific complementarity for galaxy evolution	13			
	5.4	Cosmology with Cosmic Voids	14			
	5.5	5.5 Exploiting Euclid-SPHEREx complementarity for primordial non-Gaussianity con-				
		straints	14			
	5.6	Comets and Asteroids	15			
		5.6.1 Executive Summary	15			
		5.6.2 SPHEREX Asteroid Spectral survey	16			
		5.6.3 Comet Chemical Abundance Survey	18			
6	LU	CY and the Trojan & Greek Asteroid Survey	19			
7	TESS and Gaia					
	7.1	Improved Knowledge of Exoplanet Host Stars and Exoplanet Properties	21			
	7.2	Stellar Astronomy	25			
8	eROSITA and Clusters of Galaxies					
	8.1	Clusters of Galaxies	27			
9	AL	MA	28			
	9.1	Circumstellar Dust around Main Sequence Stars.	28			
	9.2	Protoplanetary Disks and Young Stellar Objects	29			

10 SOFIA	30
11 Large-Scale Ground-based Integral Field Spectroscopy Surveys	32
11.1 A New Generation of Integral Field Spectroscopy Surveys	32
11.2 Spectrally Mapping Nearby Galaxies	34
12 SPHEREx Observation of the Interstellar Medium at High Redshift	34
12.1 ISM masses at High Redshift	34
13 Cross-Correlations with the Kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich Effect	36
14 Novel Scientific Opportunities Enabled by SPHEREx	39
14.1 Other probe of primordial non-Gaussianity with unbiased tracers	39
14.2 Probing the three phases of Hydrogen with SPHEREx at High Redshift	40
14.2.1 H_2 Emission	40
14.2.2 H α Emission to probe SFRs	41
14.2.3 HI Lyman- α during Epoch of Reionization (EOR)	41
14.3 Forecasts for the number of detectable QSOs at $z > 6$ in SPHEREx	42
15 Conclusion	42

1 The SPHEREx Mission Concept

SPHEREx, the Spectro-Photometer for the History of the Universe, Epoch of Reionization, and Ices Explorer is a proposed NASA MIDEX mission selected for Phase A study before a downselect in late CY2018, leading to launch in CY2023. The Principal Investigator is Professor Jamie Bock of Caltech. SPHEREx would carry out the first all-sky spectral survey at wavelengths between 0.75 and 2.42 μ m with spectral resolution R=41, 2.42 and 3.82 μ m with R=35, 3.82 and 4.42 μ m with R=110, and 4.42 and 5.00 μ m with R=130. At the end of its two-year mission, SPHEREx would obtain 0.75-to-5 μ m spectra of every 6.2×6.2 arcsec² pixel on the sky, with a 5- σ sensitivity AB \simeq 19-19.5 per spectral/spatial resolution element (see Fig. 3). SPHEREx would measure the spectrum of every object in the 2MASS PSC (1.2 μ m, 1.6 μ m, 2.2 μ m) catalog to at least (40 σ , 60 σ , 150 σ) per spectral channel. Most objects in the WISE catalog would also be detected by SPHEREx spectroscopically, the faintest detected at \simeq 3 σ in each spectral channel (Fig. 3).

The SPHEREx science team has optimized the mission to address three scientific questions consistent with the three major themes of NASAs astrophysics program. In particular, SPHEREx would:

- Probe the origin of the Universe by constraining the physics of inflation, the exponential expansion of the Universe that took place a fraction of a second after the Big Bang, by measuring galaxy redshifts over a large cosmological volume;
- Investigate the origin of water and biogenic molecules in the early phases of planetary system formation from molecular clouds to young stellar systems with planet-forming disks by measuring absorption spectra to determine the abundance and composition of ices;
- Chart the origin and history of galaxy formation through a deep mapping survey.

Details concerning the SPHEREx mission and these three major science themes are available at http://spherex.caltech.edu, and SPHEREx core extragalactic and cosmological science is described in an earlier White Paper [128].

As attractive as these three scientific questions are, they are far from encompassing the complete scientific grasp of SPHEREx. As Table 1 shows, SPHEREx unique all-sky database would include spectra of large numbers of astronomical and solar system targets, including data on extended and diffuse sources. These data would enable a wide variety of scientific investigations, and the SPHEREx team is dedicated to making the SPHEREx data available to the scientific community to facilitate these investigations, which we refer to as Legacy Science. To that end, we have sponsored two workshops for the general scientific community to define the most interesting Legacy Science themes and to assure that the SPHEREx data products are responsive to their needs. In February of 2016, some 50 scientists from all scientific fields met in Pasadena to develop these themes and the consequent implications for the SPHEREx mission. The results of this initial workshop are reported in Doré et al., [1]. The discussion at the 2016 workshop highlighted many synergies between SPHEREx Legacy Science and other contemporaneous astronomical missions, facilities, and databases. Consequently, in January, 2018 we convened a similar workshop at the Center for Astrophysics in Cambridge to focus specifically on these synergies. This white paper reports on and summarizes the results of the 2018 workshop.

The astronomical community has never previously addressed the scientific opportunities presented by an all sky spectroscopic survey, particularly one which covers the critical wavelengths between 0.75 and 5 μ m. Thus the science questions addressed at the 2018 workshop and summarized below should be taken as examples of how the data from SPHEREx would enhance the scientific results from other programs (and vice versa) and are not intended to be all-inclusive. We hope that by publicizing the results of the workshop and, subsequently, by keeping the science community informed about the progress of SPHEREx as we move forward, that we will stimulate the creation of many additional applications of the unique SPHEREx data.

	The SPHEREX All-Sky Survey
•	> 1 billion galaxy spectra
٠	> 100 million high-quality redshifts
٠	> 100 million stellar spectra
•	> 100 thousand ice absorption spectra
•	> 1 million quasar spectra
•	> 10 thousand asteroid spectra

Table 1. SPHEREx maps 1.3 trillion spectral-spatial elements over the entire sky in each of four independentsurveys.

2 No Mission is an Island

2.1 SPHEREx in Context

The 2018 Workshop, and this summary, focused on synergies between SPHEREx and other major astronomical facilities or missions operating now and into the 2020s. Such synergies are widespread and of great importance, enhancing the scientific return from both SPHEREx and the other facilities. Figures 1 and 2 put SPHEREx in context with many of the other programs discussed in this white paper.

The timeline in Fig. 1 shows that SPHEREx is well-timed to follow up on the results from missions such as JWST, TESS, and eROSITA; to identify targets for more detailed study by JWST, SOFIA, or ALMA, and to set the stage for later missions such as WFIRST and PLATO. The wavelength/spectral resolution chart shown in Fig. 2 shows that SPHEREx provides almost unique access with significant spectral resolution to the wavelength range between 2.5 and 5 μ m while extending shortward in wavelength to overlap with numerous ground-based and space-based imaging and spectroscopic surveys. JWST is the only space-based mission with comparable wavelength grasp and spectral resolution, and this makes the synergy between SPHEREx and JWST particularly strong, as SPHEREx goes wide while JWST goes deep. Not shown in either chart are the 10-30-meter class telescopes currently operating on the ground and planned for the future. Their overlap with SPHEREx would be similar to that discussed below regarding JWST, with the additional consideration that they would not have full access even to the 2.5-to-5 μ m wavelength region because of atmospheric absorption. Nevertheless, we can anticipate that these telescopes, with their much



Figure 1. Timeline of future space mission or major observatories in the 2020s.

higher spectral and spatial resolution, would be effectively used in pursuing targets and scientific questions identified by SPHEREx.

While comparing SPHEREx capabilities with those of these other facilities it is of course important to have SPHEREx performance in mind. This is shown in Fig. 3.

2.2 SPHEREx and The Decade of Surveys

All-sky surveys (e.g. IRAS, WMAP, Planck, GALEX, WISE) have played a major role in advancing modern astrophysics, enabling ground-breaking science and producing versatile legacy archives that have proven valuable for decades. SPHEREx would contribute to this proud heritage by carrying out the first all-sky near-infrared spectroscopic survey. The scientific value of a survey comes both from identifying rare objects of great interest and from the large data bases which support the archival research alluded to above. As both the science and the instrumentation of modern astrophysics have evolved over recent years, astronomers are turning more and more often to surveys as tools for advancing our understanding of the Universe.

It is perhaps not surprising, therefore, that of the 15 separate facilities and data bases listed in Figs. 1 and 2, all but 4 (HST, JWST, SOFIA, and ALMA) refer to either unbiased or targeted surveys. We shall see that the synergy of SPHEREx with these other survey missions is very strong, ranging from facilitating the identification of x-Ray sources imaged by eROSITA to refining the parameters of transiting exoplanets discovered by TESS by improving our knowledge of the exoplanet host stars. Along the way, we will also note the important connection between SPHEREx extragalactic studies and those of the Euclid and WFIRST missions, to be launched in the 2020s and



Figure 2. Wavelength coverage and resolving power of future space mission or major observatories in the 2020s.

featuring very large focal plane arrays optimized for studies of Dark Energy and other cosmological questions. SPHEREx also plays well with ground-based surveys such as LSST and SDSS-V, overlapping the spectral coverage provided by these observatories and extending it out into the thermal infrared. At the same time, we will see that SPHEREx is equally important as a partner of JWST and the other pointed observatories, both through singling out particularly interest targets for more detailed study and by working synergistically on numerous pressing scientific questions.

3 2MASS and WISE

2MASS and WISE are all-sky photometric surveys which overlap with much of the spectral range covered by SPHEREx. SPHEREx will obtain spectra of every sources in the 2MASS PSC (1.2 μ m, 1.6 μ m, 2.2 μ m) catalog to at least (40 σ , 60 σ , 150 σ) per spectral channel, and spectra with S/N \geq 3 per frequency element of the faintest sources detected by WISE (Fig. 3). SPHEREx thus adds a spectroscopic component to these widely used and scientifically flexible data bases, which have been used to study everything from the nearest cool stars and brown dwarfs to the stellar content of distant clusters of galaxies.



Figure 3. Sensitivity of SPHEREx and current surveys (all at 5σ). The SPHEREX sensitivity is quoted for each $\lambda/\Delta\lambda = 41$ spectral channel for $0.75 < \lambda < 2.42 \ \mu$ m, for each $\lambda/\Delta\lambda = 35$ spectral channel for $2.42 < \lambda < 3.82 \ \mu$ m, for each $\lambda/\Delta\lambda = 110$ spectral channel for $3.82 < \lambda < 4.42 \ \mu$ m, and for each $\lambda/\Delta\lambda = 135$ spectral channel for $4.42 < \lambda < 5.00 \ \mu$ m. The lower of the two red curves corresponds to the current best estimate sensitivity over the whole sky, while the upper red curve corresponds to the instrument sensitivity based on specifications that each sub-system can meet with contingency over the whole sky. The orange dots indicate the analogous sensitivity curves, but within the deep regions. The statistical sensitivity does not include the effects of astrophysical source confusion, which is significant at the deep survey depth.

4 JWST

The SPHEREx all-sky surveys and legacy catalogs provide an invaluable archive of scientifically interesting sources for detailed followup and characterization with JWST (Fig. 4).

4.1 Discovery Space

As an all-sky survey, SPHEREx can identify rare and unusual objects for JWST. A few examples include: (i) JWST spectroscopy of rare z > 6 (or 7) quasars discovered by SPHEREx, including high resolution imaging for their host galaxies; (ii) JWST follow-up of rare planetary systems undergoing planetary aggregation or cataclysmic bombardment phase, identified by SPHEREx from their bright and variable near-infrared dust emission, and (iii) JWST spectral imaging of objects with unusual ice spectra, suggesting stronger-than-expected isotopically shifted species or atypical elemental mixing ratios. The expected cadence of JWST proposal calls and SPHEREx data releases should allow follow up of SPHEREx observations during the first year of the SPHEREx mission, 2023, and annually thereafter. All but the very brightest sources seen by SPHEREx will be observable by JWST at R \simeq 1000.



Figure 4. Illustration of the synergies between SPHEREx and JWST.

4.2 Characterizing galaxies over time

JWST and SPHEREX can work together to study the evolution of galaxies over space and time. SPHEREX will begin by providing complete spatially resolved images of nearby galaxies, detecting infrared diagnostic lines such as CO, H₂O, H₂, HI, and PAH emission that probe the interplay of stellar populations with the Interstellar Medium (ISM). SPHEREX will also be sensitive to the evolved populations which constitute most of the stellar mass of these galaxies. The penetrating power of infrared observations will trace these phenomena into the dense, dusty, and highly active inner regions of galaxies.

Outside the local universe, JWST images of galaxies selected on the basis of their SPHEREx spectra can be compared with those of the nearby galaxies imaged by SPHEREx, to investigate how the distribution of stars and the ISM have evolved over more than half the lifetime of the Universe. These studies, in turn, will set the stage for interpretation of JWST observations of ever more distant galaxies, for which even this very powerful telescope obtains mainly the integrated properties.

4.3 M dwarfs and Brown Dwarfs

The SPHEREx wavelength coverage is nearly ideal for characterizing very low-mass stars and brown dwarfs (M, L, T, and Y dwarfs) because SPHEREx spectra span the thermal peaks of their spectral energy distributions and sample important absorption bands, e.g., H₂O, CO, CO₂, and CH₄. Fig. 5 shows the absolute magnitude of known L, T, and Y dwarfs as a function of spectral type at four wavelengths: $J (1.25 \,\mu\text{m})$, $K (2.2 \,\mu\text{m})$, $3.6 \,\mu\text{m}$, and $4.5 \,\mu\text{m}$. SPHEREx will obtain complete spectra from 0.7 to 5.0 μ m of many hundreds of L dwarfs and most of the known T dwarfs. In particular, SPHEREx will drastically expand the number of L and T dwarfs with 2.5–5 μ m spectra from of order tens of objects [e.g., 23, 31, 34] to nearly all such objects presently known. (Spectral S/N ratios for the late-type T and Y dwarfs will be a strong function of distance. Indeed the coolest brown dwarfs will only be detectable at the peak of the 5 μ m opacity hole).

The 2.5–5 μ m spectral region is of particular interest because it contains bands arising from CH₄ [31], CO [32], and CO₂ [148], the strengths of which are sensitive to the vigor of vertical mixing within an atmosphere. Mixing within an atmosphere can dredge CO- and CO₂-rich gas from the hot, deep layers of an atmosphere to the cool, upper regions of an atmosphere where carbon is typically locked in CH₄. The change in the band strengths of these molecules can then be used to measure the intensity of the mixing [33]. Previous work has been limited to a handful of spectra and *Spitzer*/IRAC photometry [e.g. 26, 28, 148], so SPHEREx will revolutionize our understanding of vertical mixing in brown dwarf atmospheres.

SPHEREx spectra combined with JWST/MIRI spectroscopy and photometry will sample >80% of the emergent flux of brown dwarfs having spectral types earlier than roughly T7 as visible in Fig. 6. SPHEREx+JWST will therefore provide the most accurate measurements of $F_{\rm bol}$ to date because the correction to account for the remaining flux will not dominate the error budget. When combined with parallaxes from other missions or surveys such as Gaia, LSST, and *Spitzer*, bolometric luminosities can be then computed. Brown dwarfs obey a mass-luminosity-age relation and so for those brown dwarfs in nearby young moving groups such β Pictoris (~15 pc), AB Doradus (20.1±1.6 pc), Tucana-Horologium (~48 pc), and TW Hydrae (53±2 pc) [30], $L_{\rm bol}$ can be used to infer their masses [e.g., 25]. For those objects in the field that lack meaningful age estimates, we can still measure accurate effective temperatures using the Stefan-Boltzmann law $T_{\rm eff} = (L_{\rm bol}/4\pi R^2 \sigma)^{1/4}$ by exploiting the fact that due to the equation of state, all brown dwarfs have nearly constant radii at $R \approx R_{\rm Jup}$ [22].

4.4 Dust Around Main Sequence Stars

The collisional processes that creates planets leaves behind debris in the form of planetesimals (extrasolar analogs of asteroids, comets, Centaurs, and KBOs) and dust (zodiacal and Kuiper Belt dust). The dust, heated by the star and replenished from the planetesimals, can frequently be observed, and studies of these debris disks has proven to be a powerful means of probing the nascent exoplanetary systems. Until recently, debris disk studies have concentrated on wavelengths longward of 5 μ m because their contrast relative to the stellar photosphere increases markedly with wavelength.

Recent Spitzer observations of extreme debris disks at 3.6 and $4.5 \,\mu$ m have returned striking results which SPHEREx will build upon. The brightness of debris disks simply reflects the amount of dust orbiting the star, so extreme disks (systems with $L_{dust}/L_{\star} \geq 0.01$, about two orders of



Figure 5. Absolute magnitude versus spectral type for L, T, and Y dwarfs as a function of spectral type for four infrared wavelengths: J, K, [3.6], and [4.5]. The data for the L and T dwarfs are from Dupuy & Liu [24] while the data for the Y dwarfs are from Leggett et al. [27, 29]. The 5σ SPHEREX sensitivities are shown as grey bars and curves for distances of 5 and 20 pc (dashed), and 50 pc (dotted) are shown. At any wavelength, any object lying above the gray bars is detectable.

magnitude greater than what had previously considered to be bright debris disks) are unusual not only in having both a large amount of circumstellar dust, but also in having dust warm enough to radiate strongly shortward of 5 μ m. Several such disks have now been identified orbiting stars younger than $\simeq 200$ Myr. They have one other unusual property: their infrared radiation shows marked variability on time scales of months to years [102, 103].

These extreme debris disks vary much more rapidly than predicted by evolutionary models in



Figure 6. Studies of brown dwarfs are one of the many areas in which JWST can follow up on SPHEREx results, in this case by obtaining higher resolution spectra shortward of 5 μ m and/or extending the spectral coverage to longer wavelengths. This figure provided by Mike Cushing compares the predicted spectrum of a late T dwarf with the spectral coverage of SPHEREx and that of the spectroscopic modes provided by JWST.

which the dust originates in a gradual collisional cascade. For the case of ID8 in NGC2547, for example, Meng et al. suggest that the variability results from a major collision between two large (100–1000 km radii) bodies of which some material might be vaporized, and then recondense rapidly into particles the size of sand grains. Those particles would subsequently be degraded by collisions into the particles seen in the infrared, and blown out of the system. Truly titanic collisions may be needed to produce the massive dust clouds required to account for the variability of the extreme debris disks. Several such collisions are thought to have taken place in the first 100 Myr of our Solar System, and others may have been triggered in tandem with the Late Heavy Bombardment which caused comets and asteroids to rain down on the terrestrial planets when the Solar System was

600-800 Myr old.

New IRTF/SpeX studies (Lisse+ 2012, 2015, 2017a,b) have shown that not only can nearinfrared 3-5 um spectroscopy detect thermal excess emission in more moderate debris disks, but that it can also detect systems which have been mistakenly classified as main sequence stars, and instead still have remnants of their primordial birth-disks surrounding them. These systems, like their Class I and II YSO cousins, will be easily discerned by SPHEREx due to their "flat", very non-photospheric 1-3 um spectra and are in need of being thoroughly catalogued by an all-sky survey.

SPHEREx can discover systems of any type in which the dust emission rises above the stellar photosphere at $3 \mu m$, and the six-month cadence of SPHEREx surveys is well-matched to the variability timescale of these extreme systems. It is important to note that today's well known debris disks were almost all found and identified using mid-infrared all-sky surveys; a proper unbiased, senstivity limited near-infrared search for them has never been conducted. Particularly interesting candidates will be identified for *JWST* follow-up, while SPHEREx refines our understanding of their prevalence and the attribution to the types of collisions described above. The *JWST* observations can constrain the dust mineralogy, which may in turn place important constraints on the formation mechanisms. The SPHEREx census will reveal the importance and frequency of YSO's, warm dust systems, extreme dust systems, and mis-typed stars, and help determine whether our own Solar System has a typical formation history, or if instead it stands out as an unusual system in the Milky Way.

As discussed further below, coordinated observations of circumstellar dust form an important portion of the synergies between SPHEREx and ALMA as well.

4.5 Interstellar Ices

Ices are an important yet relatively unexplored component of the interstellar medium and planetforming disks. Fewer than 250 ice absorption spectra have been obtained to date from the *Infrared Space Observatory, Spitzer*, and *AKARI*. Based on these limited spectra and gas-phase water data from the *Submillimeter Wave Astronomy Satellite* and *Herschel*, it is now clear that 99% or even more of the water in dense clouds is locked in ice. Along with organic molecules, ice-covered dust grains are predicted to be major repositories of the ingredients of life, and their incorporation into the larger bodies formed in protoplanetary disks may be a key element in how life can arise on habitable worlds. Constraining ice column densities is key to modeling planet formation because the snow lines for different molecular species strongly affect the initial conditions for a model [104]. SPHEREx's statistically significant study of ices across a broad range of source types, including the quantity (i.e., column density) of each ice species as well as chemical changes within the ice, will be a major contribution to our understanding of exoplanet formation and to exoplanet composition.

Many important biogenic ice features are accessible to SPHEREx by design, including those of H₂O (3.05 μ m), CO₂ (4.27 μ m), ¹³CO₂ (4.38 μ m), XCN (4.62 μ m), CO (4.67 μ m), and OCS (4.91 μ m). During each of its four baseline all-sky surveys, SPHEREx is expected to obtain absorption spectra toward more than 10⁵, and possibly as many as 2 × 10⁶, Milky Way sources spanning all evolutionary stages from diffuse and dense clouds to young stellar objects and protoplanetary disks. The diversity of objects observed by SPHEREx, coupled with the large number of sources for which high signal-to-noise spectra will be obtained, will constitute a dataset of unprecedented statistical power for ices in young objects. This dataset, by measuring the relative amounts of these biologically important ices for so many systems over such a wide range of evolutionary stage down to newly forming planets, is expected to reveal whether the biogenically important ices form and evolve in situ, or conversely, whether these ices are delivered unaltered from their progenitor clouds.

JWST can follow up interesting SPHEREx targets with higher resolution spectra over a broader wavelength range, picking up the ice features longward of $5 \mu m$. The potential of JWST for ice studies will be demonstrated in an approved Early Release Science program to be carried out early in the mission; SPHEREx collaborator Karin Öberg is a member of JWST ERS team 1309 (IceAge: Chemical Evolution of Ices during Star Formation; PI McClure) and will ensure good connections between the two missions in this important scientific area.

5 Euclid, WFIRST and LSST

Euclid (launch 2021) and WFIRST (launch 2025) are visible and near infrared survey missions dedicated to studies of dark matter, dark energy, and related cosmological questions using a variety of observational probes over tens of thousands of square degrees. LSST, to be operational in 2022, will image more than half the sky at visible wavelengths. These observatories will enable a wealth of transformative astronomical studies. As an all-sky survey with instrumentation which is both overlapping and complementary, SPHEREx will enable new scientific opportunities in conjunction with Euclid, WFIRST and LSST. As will be the case for JWST, the SPHEREx all sky surveys will identify many targets for the WFIRST GO program.

5.1 The Distribution of Galaxies in Space and Time

The faint, distant sources seen by WFIRST and Euclid will be gravitationally lensed by the intervening galaxies seen by SPHEREx. This enables a cross-correlation measurement between these catalogs. The number of galaxies with high redshift accuracy provided by SPHEREx increases the significance of this signal by more than 50%, allowing better studies of galaxy intrinsic alignment and formation [105–107]. Euclid and WFIRST spectroscopic surveys concentrate at redshifts z >1 to best study dark energy. By contrast, SPHEREx focuses at redshifts z < 1. Combining these surveys will measure galaxy clustering over the full range over which dark energy begins to dominate the expansion of the Universe.

SPHEREx enables new studies of galaxies which may intersect with Euclid and WFIRST in other ways. The SPHEREx catalog will contain >120 million galaxies with $\sigma(z)/(1+z) < 0.03$, sufficient for statistical galaxy evolution studies [51], and enabling clustering studies that link galaxy properties to their underlying dark matter haloes [38].

5.2 Overlapping Deep Fields

SPHEREx orbital geometry naturally singles out ~ 100 sq. degree regions near the ecliptic poles which will be surveyed to ~ $10 \times$ the depth of the complementary all-sky survey. Euclid, WFIRST, and LSST will all have deep survey regions of comparable angular extent. As is shown in Fig. 7, the Euclid and SPHEREx deep fields will overlap. SPHEREx deep fields will help to calibrate Euclid and WFIRST photometric redshifts.



Figure 7. SPHEREx deep fields at the ecliptic poles (white ellipses) overlap with LSST and Euclid deep fields (green ellipses).

5.3 Synergy between SPHEREx & Euclid: Focus on Photo-z and galaxy evolution

5.3.1 Creating an Euclid+SPHEREx mock catalog

We create a simple mock catalog by fitting [36] templates to the COSMOS2015 catalog from Laigle et al. [40]. We associate emission lines following recipes similar to Schaerer & de Barros [44]. This mock catalog covers 1.5 deg², with a detection performed in a χ^2 image zYJHK as deep as 24-25 mag in NIR ([40]). We associate a spectrum (continuum+emission lines) to every source.

In a second step, we integrate these spectra into the expected transmission curves and we add noise to the predicted fluxes. Since our objective is an investigation of the combination of Euclid and SPHEREx, we integrate the spectra into the following filters:

- Euclid filter curves [42], .i.e. a large band in visible noted *RIZ* (24.5 mag at 10σ) and three NIR filters Y, J, H (24 mag at 5σ);
- Optical filters with a possible configuration for the north hemisphere u, g, r, i, z (23.4, 24.5, 23.9, 23.6, 23 at 10σ);
- 71 filters which mimic what SPHEREx would get between 0.75 and $4\mu m$.

For SPHEREx, we adopte two configurations for the sensitivity, considering a shallow survey at 19.5-19.7 and a deep survey at 22-22.2 mag. In this mock catalog, we ignore the difficulty of cross-matching the Euclid sources with their SPHEREx counterparts.

5.3.2 Photometric redshifts

We derive the photometric redshifts using the code Le_Phare [79, 88]. We investigate three cases: Euclid alone, Euclid combined with SPHEREx shallow, Euclid combined with SPHEREx deep.

We characterize the precision of the photometric redshifts using the Normalized Median Absolute Deviation (NMAD) and we define as outliers sources with $(z_p - z_{simulated} > 0.15(1 + z_{simulated}))$. We also produce the statistic per bin of apparent magnitudes in Euclid *RIZ* filter, which is the filter used to select galaxies for the weak lensing in Euclid. The resulting precisions are given in Table 2.

We first consider the Euclid+SPHEREx shallow case. As expected given the sensitivity of the SPHEREx data, SPHEREx will not be useful in improving the photo-z for the general Euclid population at RIZ < 24.5. However, for a population brighter than RIZ < 21, SPHEREx will be able to produce extremely accurate redshifts. Moreover, such redshifts will be constrained by the presence of emission lines, which makes the measurement less prone to biases in the photometry that could affect broad band surveys (see possible biases in [88]). SPHEREx will produce an excellent bright sample over the full Euclid area to ensure that the quality of the Euclid photo-z are homogeneous over the full survey. This reference sample will be complementary with the Euclid NISP spec-z which will be obtained for faint sources at 1 < z < 3. Moreover, the SPHEREx dataset will be extremely useful to isolate the AGN using the infrared power law [39].

In the case of SPHEREx deep, the photo-z are greatly improved, even at the magnitude limit of Euclid. At 23.5 < RIZ < 24, we still expect an accuracy of 0.015. Such sample over 200 deg² will be extremely valuable to test the Euclid photo-z at the faint limits, and eventually to train the Euclid photo-z which are obtained with less bands.

	Euclid	Euclid+spherex-shallow	Euclid+spherex-deep
RIZ magnitude	NMAD	NMAD	NMAD
18-19	0.013	0.005	0.001
19-20	0.012	0.007	0.002
20-21	0.015	0.010	0.004
21-22	0.020	0.016	0.005
22-23	0.029	0.025	0.007
23-23.5	0.040	0.038	0.010
23.5-24	0.054	0.052	0.015
24-24.5	0.078	0.078	0.028

 Table 2. Precision expected by combining Euclid and SPHEREx per apparent magnitude bin into the RIZ filter

5.3.3 Scientific complementarity for galaxy evolution

By combining $H\alpha$ and $Pa\alpha$ measured by SPHEREX at z < 1 and $H\alpha$ measured by Euclid at 1 < z < 2.1, we will obtain an excellent picture of the instantaneous star formation rate over 80% of the age of the Universe. Note that $Pa\alpha$ is less affected by dust than $H\alpha$ which will help in establishing dust correction.

Laight et al. [41] showed that the reconstruction of the cosmic web in 3-D is feasible with photoz having a precision $\delta_z/(1+z)$ better than 0.015. Therefore, the cosmic web can be reconstructed over the full sky using SPHEREX at RIZ < 22. Galaxy evolution could be studied as a function of their position in the cosmic web. Using the exquisite morphology from the Euclid/VIS instrument, we could study how environment impact the galaxy morphological transformation. Having simultaneously the SFR, we could link this transformation with the quenching of the star formation.

Numerous other studies could benefit from combining SPHEREx and Euclid. Among many, lensing from Euclid, combined with the clustering and abundance analysis from SPHEREx at z < 1 can be used to study the galaxy-halos connection (e.g. [37, 43]), and the 3-D cosmic web at z < 1 could be compared with shear map to link baryonic matter and dark matter.

5.4 Cosmology with Cosmic Voids

When considering void catalog based cosmology, SPHEREx is unique when comparing to Euclid and WFIRST in providing high galaxy number density and all-sky coverage at lower redshifts (z<0.6). This provides an important anchor for probes of the expansion history and growth of cosmic structure during the acceleration epoch (the epoch of dark energy domination). While SPHEREx will add to the existing baryon acoustic oscillation constraints, its unique qualities make it a stand-out mission for probes of smaller scale structure.

Several studies have shown (e.g. [109] and references therein) that voids can be modeled sufficiently precisely even on mildly non-linear scales (void radii of 10 Mpc/h) to be used as a probe of the growth of cosmic structure and cosmography through the Alcock-Paczyinski test. While the Euclid and WFIRST missions are forecast to detect tens of thousands of voids around redshifts of $\simeq 1$ and above, we predict that SPHEREx will find over 200,000 voids at lower redshift, probing the recent acceleration of the universe. Other cosmological tests based on the number and size distribution of the detected voids [108] are forecast to provide complementary constraints on the dark energy equation of state parameters to those from Euclid and WFIRST as shown in Fig. 8. The large added value of SPHEREx compared to these much larger missions is a consequence of its unique redshift range and sky coverage.

5.5 Exploiting Euclid-SPHEREx complementarity for primordial non-Gaussianity constraints

An enticing science goal of the SPHEREx mission is the characterization of primordial non-Gaussianity through its imprint on the very large scale galaxy 2-point correlations. In terms of statistical power this measurement promises to improve by a significant factor the current best constraints derived from the three-point function of the cosmic microwave background anisotropy. This measurement will require an exquisite control of systematics on the largest scales, in particular systematics that modulate the observed fluctuation power. While the selection in an all-sky spectroscopic survey is more straightforward than in traditional redshift surveys, we still expect some sources of spurious clustering will be present. Detailed simulations will be key to assess the impact of these potential systematic errors on non-Gaussianity science with SPHEREx. While SPHEREx holds substantial margin against these systematic effects, again, the complementary survey strategies of SPHEREx and Euclid suggest promising approaches to characterize and mitigate these effects. For example, Euclids higher resolution will more clearly distinguish between stars and galaxies; coupled with SPHEREx's all-sky spectroscopic approach, a Euclid-selected SPHEREx sample may offer an optimal combination of systematics mitigation and statistical power. Reversely, SPHEREx calibration stability provides a linked network of infrared spectrophotometric standards over a wide range of



Figure 8. Forecast constraints from void number counts on dark energy equation of state parameters (see [108] for details). The complementarity of the constraint is a consequence of unique combination of redshift and sky coverage of the SPHEREx survey.

fluxes and the entire sky. We anticipate this network will be widely used across astronomy, benefiting current and future observatories, much like Gaia setting a new standard for calibration at optical wavelengths. It should be of great value to Euclid and help mitigate calibration drifts.

5.6 Comets and Asteroids

5.6.1 Executive Summary

SPHEREx all-sky survey images will contain NIR spectral detections of tens of thousands of asteroids, greatly increasing our ability to sort asteroids into evolutionary families and define compositional trends with heliocentric radii created by structure in the Solar Systems protoplanetary disk. SPHEREx will also be sensitive to emission from comets, the end reservoir for the interstellar ices studied under SPHERExs main themes. Of particular interest will be measurements of the relative intensities of CO and CO₂, both with emission bands in SPHEREx Bands 5 and 6. WISE and Spitzer have shown that these molecules can drive cometary activity at large heliocentric distances. SPHEREx should be able to measure these molecules in upwards of 100 comets. Both the asteroid and the cometary studies will be among the many ways in which SPHEREx will be synergistic with the survey results from the Large Synoptic Survey Telescope [LSST], which will survey the entire sky visible from Chile every three days at wavelengths from 0.35 to 0.95 μ m. LSST images will be particularly useful in providing an estimate and image of cometary activity complementary to that inferred from the SPHEREx spectra. In turn, the SPHEREx + LSST measurements will be invaluable for selecting high value added ToO targets for HST, JWST, WFIRST, etc.

5.6.2 SPHEREx Asteroid Spectral survey

A major question in solar system formation science today is how and where the current population of asteroids formed. In the last decade the formation of iron meteorites, remnants of planetesimal cores, have been dated to within 1 to 3 Myr after meteoritic CAI's ("Calcium Aluminum Inclusions", mineral bits composed of the stablest and most refractory metal oxides that form first out of a cooling solar abundance mixture) formed the oldest known materials in the solar system. This has been interpreted as strong evidence for a "top-down" formation of large Vesta-sized asteroidal bodies in the innermost regions of the solar system, which then underwent collisional disruption over the next 10-30 Myr to produce collections of metallic (from the core), stony-iron (from the mantle), and stony (from the crust) fragments that re-accreted into the asteroid families we see today. Many of these bodies were absorbed in the making of the terrestrial planets. Those that weren't underwent further collisional grinding, to form the smaller bodies of the asteroid families we know today. Recent spectral survey work of ~ 300 asteroids at 0.8 - 2.5 μm [138] has shown that the asteroid belt also appears to be zoned by distance from the Sun, with the largest bodies keeping the signatures of their formation location: rockiest in the inner belt, mixed in the center regions, and most carbon and water-rich in the outer regions. Brand new iron meteorite isotopic evidence [137] is now arguing for 2 distinct reservoirs of solar system material separated by Jupiters core forming within 0.6 Myr of the CAIs.

WISE performed an all-sky asteroidal survey from 2010 - 2015, detecting \sim 200,000 asteroids and determining their size, albedo, and color frequency distributions. SPHEREx will be able to spectrally characterize a large number of the WISE asteroids and determine their makeup as a function of orbital location, bridging the gap between the WISE and the DeMeo surveys [138].

SPHEREx will need to perform this asteroid survey for another reason - given the NIR brightness frequency distribution of the asteroid population and its extent across the sky, there is a few % chance in a SPHEREx observation of any given sky pixel that there will be a significant asteroidal contribution to its measured flux. To make robust measurements of extra-solar system objects, the SPHEREx team will thus have to remove any foreground asteroid contribution, naturally building up an asteroid spectral survey. Fortunately, at SPHEREx sensitivity levels most of the asteroids detected will be previously cataloged objects and asteroids would appear as unusual rogue, variable sources in SPHEREx' redundant surveys.

The SPHEREX extended asteroid survey has direct NASA mission support consequences. SPHEREx will return the first large scale spectral characterization of the solar systems Main Belt Asteroids (MBAs). As such, it will place the unique mission targets of past asteroid rendezvous missions - like NEAR, Hyabusa, and DAWN into better context vs. the whole MBA population, while doing the same for the new OSIRIS-ReX, and PSYCHE missions. E.g., it will help answer the question of how common a near-Earth C-type asteroid like the O-Rex target Bennu is, and if Psyche has many other little brother and sister M-type asteroids in the Main Belt, or is as nearly unique as it seems.

Even though SPHEREx can easily achieve WISE-like sensitivity levels on a fixed target, asteroids may pose challenges because of their motion and rotation in combination with the piecewise way in which SPHEREx will build up a spectrum. Thus we have conservatively estimated that SPHEREx will return useful data on tens of thousands, and not ~200 thousand asteroids, as WISE has done. Even so, robust spectral characterization from 0.75-to-5.0 μ m of tens of thousands of asteroids will be a major scientific advance over the ~500 asteroids spectrally characterized in the NIR over the last 3 decades.



Figure 9. (Top) Examples of the expected quality of cometary spectra from SPHEREx. Shown are AKARI 1-5 μ m R=50 spectra of 12 comets (after [63]). The areas under each spectral feature are directly related to the total amount of the emitting species in the AKARI beam. The main features evinced are due to the O-H stretch in water and hydroxyl (2.4 - 2.8 μ m), the aliphatic and aromatic C-H stretch in organics like CH4, C2H6, H3COH, H2CO (methane, ethane methanol, and formaldehyde; 3.2 - 3.6 μ m), the C=O stretch in CO2 (carbon dioxide; the doublet from 4.0 - 4.5 μ m centered around 4.25 um), and the C=O stretch in CO2 (carbon dioxide; the doublet from 4.0 - 4.5 μ m centered around 4.25 um), and the C=O stretch in CO at ~ 4.7 μ m (carbon monoxide). (Bottom) Trends in the estimated CO₂/H₂O and CO/CO₂ ratios. A clear trend of rising CO₂ vs H₂O production is seen as the observed comets move outside the water ice line at ~ 2.5 AU and water production from the nucleus shuts down. In contrast, trends in the CO₂/CO ratio are hard to distinguish because both species are still highly volatile at a few AU while not being trapped in solid water ice. Like AKARI, SPHEREx will remove the confusion in previous 4.5 μ m photometric surveys (e.g., WISE) between flux produced by CO2 vs CO in the 4-5 μ m range. But improving on AKARI, it will do this for > 100 comets, and at much higher sensitivity due the greatly reduced thermal instrumental background because of its much colder optics bench.

5.6.3 Comet Chemical Abundance Survey

Comets, formed within the first Myr of the solar system's lifetime, are thought to be the most primitive bodies left over from the Proto-Planetary Disk (PPD) era. They are leftover relics from the era of planetary formation that have failed to aggregate into a planet (or looked at another way, survived the era of violent early aggregation). There are two main reservoirs of comets known today in the solar system: the Kuiper Belt and the Oort Cloud. The Kuiper Belt comets are small icy bodies that formed at the outer edges of the PPD, where there was too little mass density to form another planet; looked at another way, the PPD had to end somewhere, and in its regions of lowest density planetesimals accretion was slow and truncated.

These objects are in orbits relatively well clustered around the plane of the ecliptic with low inclinations (modulo the objects scattered by Neptune as it migrated outward during the LHB), and exist in a radial zone extending out to ~ 50 AU from the Sun. We observe them when they become scattered inward into the giant planet region by galactic tides and passing stars, becoming first Centaurs and then finally short period comets. (The large outer planet moons Phoebe and Triton and comet/Centaur 29P/SW1 are direct examples of how scattering can send relic icy bodies inward.) The Oort Cloud comets, found in a roughly spherical distribution from 103 to 105 AU, were counterintuitively formed inside the Kuiper Belt in the giant planet region, as the feedstock for the nascent giant planets; they represent the population of objects that had near misses to the growing giant oligarchs in the first 1-10 Myr of the solar system, and rather than accreting or being thrown into the Sun or out of the system entirely, they were scattered into highly elongated, barely bound, Myr orbits. One of the holy grails of comet science over the last 2 decades has been to search for compositional differences between the Kuiper Belt and Oort Cloud comets, as a signature of radial chemical gradation in the PPD. SPHEREx will observe large enough numbers of comets to start to fill this data gap, particularly if more than the expected number of Oort Cloud comets appear during its 2 year mission.

The search for PPD chemical signatures in comets has produced another important result. Cometary bodies are composed of ~ 1/2 icy volatiles and 1/2 rocky refractory materials, with the ices being dominated (> 80%) by H₂O ice. The most important ice species after water are CO and CO₂ [160], with minor admixtures of methane, ethane, formaldehyde, methanol, and ammonia. Until 2012, when Ootsubo et al. used the Akari satellite to observe 18 comets from 1-5 μ m at R~50, it had long been thought that CO was the fundamental C-bearing icy reservoir; but we now know that while CO₂ ranges from 5 to 25% vs. water in abundance in comets, CO can vary over 3 order of magnitude in relative abundance, from from 0.1 to 30%. With the recent discovery of abundant O₂ in comets by ROSETTA [157, 158], the higher stability of the more oxidized CO₂ form becomes more plausible, as does the variability in the likely original source CO (c.f. interstellar ices section).) Thus CO₂ may be the true leader of the C-bearing family.

Much work has been done in the last 5 years to quantify the amount of C-bearing gas in comets. As emission lines from these species are best detected from space (and CO_2 is detectable only from space) owing to the Earth's atmospheric absorption, space-based platforms are the best-equipped facilities for characterizing their production by comets. WISE and Spitzer have undertaken photometric campaigns to identify CO and CO_2 emission in comets, and to characterize their production as a function of distance from the Sun and of comet orbital class. However, unlike AKARIs spectral cometary measurements, it was not possible for these spacecraft to directly differentiate between CO and CO₂ production, as both molecules main emission features lie in the same broadband 4.5 μ m filter.

Furthermore, regarding comparison to water production, because of the variable nature of comets and the lack of the ability of these space platforms to quantify water production simultaneously, placing the combined production limits of CO and CO_2 in relation to the most plentiful species produced in the inner solar system by comets is not certain. Even though the water production may be characterized from the ground, the ground-based observations are rarely simultaneous. SPHEREx will be able to detect these C-bearing species separately, and simultaneously with water and other astrobiologically important volatiles such as the organics methane, ethane, methanol, formaldehyde, and ammonia.

The spectral imaging capabilities of the spacecraft will play a special role in more detailed investigations of particular species. Comets are extended objects containing a compact nucleus emitting dust and gas into an extended coma and tail. By measuring the column density profiles of a species as a function of its distance from the comet nucleus, they will facilitate the accurate measure of its solar UV photolytic dissociative scale length, a feature of cometary coma chemistry which still remains ambiguous for many important species (like CO & CO_2), and so help investigate the physical processes (like radiative photolysis, charge transfer, solar wind particle collisions, and gas phase and dust surface reaction chemistry) occurring in a comets coma. By measuring the continuum color structure in the extended dust coma and tail, we will be able to use SPHEREx observations to determine the size distribution of dust emitted by the comet and size sorting effects on the dust as it flows away from the comet under the influence of solar radiation pressure and gravity, and thus estimates of the comets total emitted dust mass and dust mass emission rate.

In summary, by performing an unbiased spectral survey of ~ 100 comets (the expected number based on the comets detected in 2 years by [159]. SPHEREx will be able to directly expand our knowledge of the quantity of dust, organics, CO, and CO₂ in comets relative to H₂O, and so provide compositional constraints on the part of the PPD in which they formed. SPHEREx will further provide independent estimates or constraints on the size, albedo, and activity level of these comets, as a function of time and heliocentric distance (- local equilibrium temperature). Finally, there is the potential for enormous synergy with contemporaneous small body surveys, such as NEOCam, which produce broad-band mid-infrared detections of hundreds of thousands of potentially hazardous impactors, both cometary and asteroidal, but without much compositional information about them other than their absolute albedo (dark = carbon rich, bright = icy, middling = stony or iron). SPHEREx will not only improve the albedo estimates with its own independent albedo measures, but it will also provide the spectral measurements needed to distinguish in detail a cometary vs a stony vs a metallic impactor, which is vital for implementing accurate mitigation schemes for any impact potential threat.

6 LUCY and the Trojan & Greek Asteroid Survey

In a similar fashion, SPHEREx will naturally observe and detect asteroidal bodies located in the L4 and L5 resonances of Jupiter, the so-called Greek and Trojan asteroids also known as "Jupiter Trojans". Characterizing these objects will be a natural offshoot of the main belt asteroid survey. Even though their total number is predicted to exceed the number of MBA's, only a fraction of these



Figure 10. Illustration of asteroids compositional classification using near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy. Shown, starting in the upper left and moving counterclockwise are: the WISE spatial distribution of main belt asteroids (MBAs); 0.8 - 2.5 μ m spectra for 25 asteroids taken from the NASA/IRTF 3m on top of Mauna Kea; [138] spectral templates for different classes of asteroids, referenced to laboratory measurements of meteorite samples; and in the upper right, a detailed comparison of 3 closely related rocky asteroids, showing the subtle differences in the olivine and pyroxene absorption features that sets them apart. The dominant distinguishing spectral reflectance features observed are the 1.2 um and 1.9 μ m olivine absorptions, the 1.3 μ m pyroxene absorption, and the broad shallow 0.8 - 2.5 μ m continuum reddening due to carbonaceous material.

objects have been studied spectroscopically in the NIR. [146] studied 1742 Jupiter Trojan Asteroids using the WISE spacecraft broad-band photometry, and found 3.4 μ m albedo differences between C & P-spectral-type and D-types. SPHEREx will provide a better understanding of the compositional causes of this color correlation. SPHEREx should be able to obtain good spectra of hundreds of Trojan and Greek asteroids; they move across the sky more slowly and predictably than the main belt asteroids and should present fewer observational problems (Fig. 11).

The importance of SPHEREx information about the composition of these bodies is bound up in our current understanding of the migrational history of the solar system. The NICE model [156] has predicted that the Kuiper Belt was disrupted some 600-800 Myrs after the CAI and iron meteorite formation, when Jupiter and Saturn moved into a 2:1 resonance which forced an inward migration while Uranus and Neptune moved outward. This planetary migration greatly disrupted the orbits of the Kuiper Belt planetesimals, scattering some 99% of them inward or outward in the solar system and creating the system-wide Late Heavy Bombardment, while sweeping up a small fraction (~100 are known today) into mean motion resonances with Neptune (e.g., the Plutinos). It is thought that while this was happening, some of the KBOs scattered inward would be captured into the stable Lagrangian points around the giant planets. Thus comparing the makeup of the Jovian Trojan population to what is known about KBOs (and other purportedly captured KBOs, like Saturn's moon Phoebe and Neptune's moon Triton) is an important test of this model for solar system development. Other possibilities for the Trojans' sourcing are capture of outer main belt asteroids, or formation of the Trojans in situ from the PPD as Jupiter formed.

SPHEREx will be able to test each of these hypotheses by comparing the Trojan spectral results to its MBA spectra catalogue. SPHEREx would also be able to compare these Jupiter Trojan spectra to spectra of more distant asteroidal bodies linked with the KBOs, like the Centaur and SDO populations. SPHEREx is likely to measure several of these bodies.

The nature of the Trojan and Greek asteroids is thought to be such an important issue that in 2016 NASA selected the LUCY 5-Trojan tour mission as one of its next DISCOVERY program missions. The 5 objects were selected for their diversity in size, albedo, and location amongst the Trojan population, to hopefully provide a good sampling of the different kinds of source (i.e. captured, formed in place, cometary, scattered MBA) population. The missions science goals require Earth-based surveys to put these targets in detailed context of the larger overall Trojan population, and SPHEREx is excellently qualified to do this. The project has contacted the LUCY PI and will be working with the team to help deliver the required context measurements from the Legacy catalog, and to help the team select new extended mission flyby targets.

7 TESS and Gaia

7.1 Improved Knowledge of Exoplanet Host Stars and Exoplanet Properties

The transit and radial velocity (RV) exoplanet detection techniques have led to the discovery of thousands of exoplanets (approximately 3,500 according to the NASA Exoplanet Archive as of 26 Feb 2018), and upcoming surveys such as the Transiting Exoplanets Survey Satellite (TESS) mission (successfully launched in April 2018) are expected to find thousands more [110]. The masses and radii measured for exoplanets discovered with these methods depend directly on those of their host stars.

Observations of transiting planets provide our best information on the properties of exoplanets. By combining SPHEREx spectra and Gaia observations, both spectrophotometric and astrometric, we will obtain the radii of the TESS target stars with unprecedented precision. The radii of transiting exoplanets are determined by their measured transit depths (which are proportional to $[R_{planet}/R_{star}]^2$), for which the uncertainties in R_{star} may predominate. The SPHEREx/Gaia data, by constraining R_{star} , will translate to measurements of transiting planet radii with 1% precision, which will be necessary to exploit fully the wealth of data returned by TESS, PLATO, ARIEL, and future exoplanet studies. The improved radii enabled by SPHEREx will be particularly useful for planets orbiting cool K and M stars which are often targeted in transiting exoplanet studies



Figure 11. Left: Estimated brightness and orbital frequency distributions for the Trojan and Greek asteroids, after [146]. It is estimated that there are millions of slow moving bodies in the clouds that SPHEREx could survey. The vertical grey line at absolute magnitude ~ 12 denotes the predicted WISE/SPHEREx sensitivity limit, so there should be hundreds of known Trojan asteroids that SPHEREx will be able to characterize spectrally for the first time during its 2-year mission, compared to the handful that have been observed to date. Right: Spatial location of the Greek asteroids leading Jupiter in its orbit around the L4 resonance (~ 60 deg. in the prograde direction) and of the Trojans trailing Jupiter in its orbit around the L5 resonance (~ 60 deg. in the retrograde direction). Jupiter is the small dot at (2.3, -4.2) AU. Note that the Trojans and Greeks are safely removed from Jupiter and each other, so that there is no likelihood of scattered Jovian light causing problems with the SPHEREx measurements, while at the same time it will require a dedicated survey like SPHEREx to sample the spatially extended swarms well. LUCY will pass through both the Greek and Trojan swarms. Distributions of semi-major axis (top left), eccentricity (top right), inclination (bottom left), and absolute magnitude (bottom right) of the synthetic (dotted line) and known (black solid line) populations of the Jovian Trojan population. The distributions of the sample of known objects with H< 11.5, a sample believed to be ~ 90% (gray solid line).

because of their small sizes, deeper transits and smaller habitable zones. As a pair of all-sky surveys, SPHEREx and Gaia will provide complementary data about all host stars for transiting planets including the targets of future missions, most notably ESAs PLATO, and also for ground-based transit surveys, such as SPECULOOS, the successor to TRAPPIST. Indeed, Gaia will provide distances to many interesting stars of all types identified by SPHEREx, including 100s of the late M dwarfs and L-type brown dwarfs discussed below.

Determining stellar parameters to high precision will facilitate detailed studies of exoplanet properties. For example, knowledge of a rocky planet's measured bulk density alone is insufficient to uniquely constrain its interior composition, so planetary interior models often use stellar elemental abundances, such as the silicon-to-iron ratio, to further constrain the planet's composition. Empirical measurements of the star-planet [Si/Fe] correlation can improve the accuracy of these models, but such measurements require percent-level planetary radius and mass measurements [111]. These requirements necessitate percent-level precision for the stellar parameters. Low-mass stars such as M dwarfs provide the best opportunities for finding small, rocky planets; for a given planet, a

Spectral		Values, Uncertainties, & Fractional Precision			
Type	Parameter	Broadband	Broadband &	Broadband, Gaia,	
& Magnitude		Photometry Only	Gaia Photometry	& SPHEREx Photometry	
	T_{eff} (K)	$6300 \pm 100 \ (2\%)$	$6290 \pm 50 \; (0.8\%)$	$6265 \pm 15 \; (0.2\%)$	
F Dwarf	F_{bol}	3×10^{-9}	3×10^{-9}	$3 imes 10^{-9}$	
	$(erg/s/cm^2)$	$\pm 10^{-10} \ (3\%)$	$\pm 5 \times 10^{-11} \ (2\%)$	$\pm 2 \times 10^{-11} \ (0.6\%)$	
$(V \simeq 10)$	$R_{\star}(R_{\odot})$	$1.59 \pm 0.04 \ (2\%)$	$1.62 \pm 0.02 \; (1\%)$	$1.589 \pm 0.005 \ (0.3\%)$	
	T_{eff} (K)	$3900 \pm 50 \; (1\%)$	$3888 \pm 25 \; (0.6\%)$	$3912 \pm 8 \; (0.2\%)$	
M Dwarf	F _{bol}	5×10^{-11}	5×10^{-11}	4×10^{-11}	
	$(erg/s/cm^2)$	$\pm 2 \times 10^{-12} \ (4\%)$	$\pm 9 \times 10^{-13} \ (2\%)$	$\pm 3 \times 10^{-13} \ (0.8\%)$	
$(V \simeq 16)$	$R_{\star}(\overline{R_{\odot}})$	$0.58 \pm 0.03 \; (5\%)$	$0.582 \pm 0.014 \ (2\%)$	$0.570 \pm 0.005 \; (0.9\%)$	

Table 3. Precision on the stellar effective temperature T_{eff} , bolometric flux F_{bol} , and radius R_{\star}^* inferred from SED modeling of two planet-host stars: an F dwarf (KELT-3; Pepper, et al. [114]), and an M dwarf (NGTS-1; Bayliss, et al. [116]). From left to right, the columns show results for an SED fit to extant broadband photometry only, broadband photometry combined with Gaia spectrophotometry, and broadband photometry combined with Gaia spectrophotometry, and broadband photometry combined with Gaia spectrophotometry. In each case, a precise distance determination from Gaia is assumed.

smaller, less massive star yields larger radius and mass ratios and thus larger transit and RV signals. However, current models are discrepant at the few-to-several percent level with observations.

Stevens, et al. [112] and Beatty, et al. [113] argue that precise and accurate stellar and planetary parameters will soon be measurable by a joint analysis of transit photometry, RV measurements, stellar broad-band flux measurements, and ultra-precise Gaia parallaxes, combined with SPHEREx spectrophotometry. For a typical TESS target with 8 < V < 11, a wealth of broad-band photometry exists in the literature from the UV (GALEX) to the IR (WISE). However, for dwarfs with spectral types M through A, only 40-70% of the flux is captured in these measurements. This type of analysis therefore requires the use of model atmospheres to infer the stellar bolometric flux from the spectral energy distribution (SED); the bolometric flux, combined with a parallax, provides the stellar radius, and the other stellar and planetary parameters can then be determined from the radius and the transit and RV data. In this case, the precision and accuracy of the inferred stellar and planetary properties hinge on the precision and accuracy of stellar atmosphere models.

The latest Gaia release (DR2) provides, in addition to parallaxes, low-resolution spectrophotometry from 330-1050 nm, covering the stellar spectral energy distribution (SED) peak for the earlier spectral types. SPHEREx's VIS-near-IR spectrophotometry between 0.75-5.0 μ m would cover the SED peak for mid-K and later spectral types, as well as the Rayleigh-Jeans tail of all observed stars. Adding these measurements to the existing flux measurements then captures 90-98% of the total stellar flux for these spectral types, enabling bolometric flux determinations that are either independent or only weakly dependent on model atmospheres.

Table 3 shows how, for two representative stars, combining SPHEREX and Gaia spectrophotometry can improve the precision of the SED-derived stellar parameters over fitting to the broad-band photometry alone. By measuring nearly all the stellar flux, effective temperatures can be inferred to <10 K (< 1%) precision. Likewise, stellar radii can be determined to < 1% precision, a level comparable to that achieved with interferometric techniques, but this method is applicable to stars hundreds of parsecs away. Figure 12 illustrates the power of this stellar radius constraint both in terms of the radius precision itself and how this constraint complements the high-precision density constraints achievable with short-cadence observations from TESS. Note that the broad wavelength coverage of the Gaia-SPHEREx data set also allows determination of and correction for interstellar reddening even for extinction as low as $A_v \simeq 0.05$, which further improves the precision of the determination of stellar parameters. With the stellar parameters so well-determined, those of the transiting planet will be limited only by the uncertainties in the measurements of transit depth and stellar RV.



Figure 12. Estimated mass and radius constraints on the transiting hot Jupiter host KELT-3. The star denotes the mass and radius values from Pepper, et al. [114]. The constraint from a 4% surface gravity inferred from granulation-driven flux variations observable with TESS' short-cadence photometry (e.g. Kallinger, et al. [117] is shown in green, while a 2% stellar density constraint from TESS transit observations at the short cadence is shown in blue. The radius constraint from SED modeling using only broad-band flux measurements and a Gaia parallax with 7 micro-arcsecond uncertainty is shown by the black solid lines, while the more precise constraint achieved by incorporating SPHEREx and Gaia spectrophotometry is shown by the dashed black lines. SPHEREx deep fields overlap with LSST and Euclid deep fields.

TESS is expected to provide high-quality transit data for $\simeq 1,700$ planets, of which $\simeq 550$ are expected to be Earths and Super-Earths and to detection antoerh $\sim 20,000$ giant exoplanets in the full frame image data [110]. Gaia and SPHEREx will produce an all-sky archive which will be available to characterize not only all TESS exoplanet host stars but also almost all identified in

the past and the future from both ground and space observatories. For example, ESAs PLAnetary Transits and Occultations (PLATO) satellite to be launched in 2026 - is expected to characterize 4,800 V < 13 transiting systems precisely, targeting longer-period systems to search for Earth-like planets in the habitable zones of Sun-like stars, of which it is expected to find $\simeq 60$ (ESA 2017). Like TESS, PLATO will concentrate on bright stars readily measured by SPHEREx and Gaia. With the abundance of high-precision stellar densities from the transit and asteroseismology measurements from these satellites, SPHEREx and Gaia have the potential to improve our knowledge of thousands of stellar and planetary radii and masses, ushering in an area of high precision exoplanet studies.

7.2 Stellar Astronomy

As all sky surveys with contiguous spectral coverage, SPHEREx and Gaia will undoubtedly prove synergistic in many, many ways. Consideration of the forgoing discussion, for example, tells us that the pair will constrain the properties of stars in a way which may ultimately distinguish between different sets of evolutionary tracks. The improved stellar data will be particularly valuable when paired with the higher resolution spectroscopic data to be obtained by a number of ground-based spectroscopic surveys now getting underway (see § 11).

8 eROSITA and Clusters of Galaxies

eROSITA (extended ROentgen Survey with an Imaging Telescope Array) is the primary instrument on the Russian Spektrum-Roentgen-Gamma (SRG) mission. eROSITA will provide an all-sky Xray survey every 6 months for 4 years, with a final expected depth of 1×10^{-14} (3×10^{-15} erg/cm²/s at the ecliptic poles) which is about 30 times deeper than ROSAT [118, 119] in the soft band (0.5-2 keV). eROSITA will also provide for the first time ever an all-sky survey in the hard band (2-10 keV), reaching an expected depth of 2×10^{-13} erg/cm²/s (4×10^{-14} erg/cm²/s at the ecliptic poles). The scientific main driver of eROSITA is cluster cosmology, and in particular, the growth of the Large Scale Structure. It is expected to detect 10^5 massive clusters of galaxies up to redshift $\simeq 1$. eROSITA will also detected about 3 million AGN to $z \simeq 6$, and about 500,000 stars.

For the complete identification of extended (i.e. clusters) and point-like (i.e. AGN and stars) eROSITA sources, deep multi-wavelength coverage of the sky is essential. In particular SPHEREx will be crucial for the following reasons:

- SPHEREx will cover the entire sky, and provide full-sky object catalogs with higher angular resolution than eROSITA and homogeneous coverage. Homogeneity on wide areas is fundamental when selecting the counterpart to both point-like and extended X-ray sources. This is particularly true for point-like sources for which the counterpart is defined in a probabilistic way, with the probability also depending on the number density of the sources (e.g. NWAY, Salvato, et al. [129], Dwelly, et al. [130]).
- SPHEREx will cover the longer optical wavelengths, NIR and MIR. At these wavelength most AGNs are easily identified, either due to their intrinsic spectral energy distribution (SED) [35], or due to the redshifting of the strong UV emission of high-redshift AGNs into the SPHEREx bands. At the same time the number of field sources emitting at these wavelength decreases, thus improving the success rate of counterpart identification methods.



Figure 13. This figure (from [155]) illustrates overlap and synergism of infrared and other techniques of identifying AGN, from Mara Salvato presentation at workshop.

Based on magnitude distributions of the counterparts to the X-ray point-like sources detected in STRIPE82x [131, 132], we expected that at the depth of eROSITA, SPHEREx will provide a reliable counterpart to 90% and 87% of the sources in the integrated K and [3.6 μ m bands, respectively. At the ecliptic poles where both eROSITA and SPHEREx are deeper, virtually all the point-like eROSITA sources will have a counterpart. Similarly, the preponderance of galaxy members of clusters up to $z \sim 1$ are expected to be detected in the narrow bands of SPHEREx redder than the K band based (see *e.g.* Lin, et al. [126]).

For the galaxies in the clusters and AGN SPHEREx will be also able to provide an accurate estimate of the photometric redshift by pin pointing the emission/absorption lines and the key features in the continuum. The impact that the availability of intermediate and narrow band photometry has on the precision of photometric redshift has been already demonstrated in previous surveys as COMBO-17 [133], COSMOS-21 [134], SHARDS [135, 136] and further discussed in Salvato, et al. [129]. When the sources will be faint, the photometry will need to be complemented with other deep, ancillary, optical broad band photometry (see § 5.3.2). In particular for AGN, the emission lines from the host and from the vicinity of the central BH, combined with proper SEDs, will allow the determination of accurate photometric redshifts [132, 140–143]. It will bring much improvement on, for example, the X-ray AGN Luminosity Function, which is still very uncertain at z > 3 e.g., [144, 145, 147].



Figure 14. This composite image (Courtesy:K. Dennerl), derived from data obtained during the ROSAT all-sky survey, color-coded by their X-ray colors, illustrates the rich variety of sources which can be detected in X-rays: stars, white dwarfs, neutron stars, supernova remnants, active galactic nuclei, galaxy clusters, and even solar system objects like our Moon. eROSITA, combined with SPHEREx will be sensitive not only for nearby stars such as shown here, but for obscured stars lying in distant regions of the Milky Way.

SPHEREx will continuously revisit the sky with a six month cadence (at a given position and given wavelength element; and 30 times more frequently at the ecliptic poles). This multi-epoch data set will yield a new understanding of the physics regulating the activity of black holes, and will provide valuable additional information on X-ray sources with ambiguous optical associations through time variability studies.

8.1 Clusters of Galaxies

eROSITA also shows how SPHEREX data complement X-ray and mm-wave observations of clusters of galaxies by providing cluster redshift and stellar mass measurements. Upcoming millimeter-wave cluster surveys (e.g., SPT-3G, AdvACTPol, Simons Observatory, CMB-S4) and the eROSITA X-ray



Figure 15. This figure (from Lin, et al. [126]) shows the expected K band magnitude distribution of galaxies members of clusters up to redshift ~ 1. SPHEREx can detect individual galaxies in eROSITA discovered clusters out to $z \simeq 0.5$. The SPHEREx sensitivity at K_{\star} is ~ 13.5 Vega magnitude.

mission will discover 100,000 massive systems [124, 125, 127]. Since these surveys contain limited-tono redshift information, auxiliary data are required to obtain robust redshifts. Simulations suggest that the precision of cluster redshift measurement from SPHEREx, over the full sky, should equal or exceed that of current generation optical surveys for redshifts z < 0.6 and remain to $\sigma(z)/(1+z) <$ 0.03 for z < 0.9. Furthermore, SPHEREx measurements of the stellar content of galaxies will provide virial masses for large statistical cluster samples. Finally, extrapolating from the SDSS sample [122], we forecast that the SPHEREx all-sky maps will independently reveal $\simeq 30,000$ galaxy clusters.

9 ALMA

9.1 Circumstellar Dust around Main Sequence Stars.

IRAS made the first detections of what we now call planetary debris disks, clouds of dust around main sequence stars which are fed by the collisions and decay of exo-asteroids and exo-comets. With the prevalence of exoplanets we now understand that debris disks reflect the properties of the exoplanetary systems they occupy. Ground-based observations from the NASA Infrared Telescope Facility have recently detected warm dust radiating shortward of 5 μ m around a handful of stars selected because they were known to have cooler circumstellar material. SPHEREx will search over the entire sky for near-infrared excesses due to warm circumstellar dust radiating shortward of 5 μ m. These studies are synergistic with both JWST and the ALMA submillimeter array which, respectively, can assay and in many cases image the amount of cooler and cold dust orbiting these

same stars. This will provide not only a complete picture of the distribution of circumstellar dust but also glimpses of the underlying planetary systems.



Figure 16. SPHEREx complements ALMA and JWST

9.2 Protoplanetary Disks and Young Stellar Objects

SPHEREx, JWST, and ALMA will also work together in the study of protoplanetary disks, which are the birthplaces of exo-planets and exo-planetary systems. SPHEREx will be a valuable probe of the innermost, terrestrial planet-forming regions of protoplanetary disks, providing needed synergy with current and future data from millimeter observatories, such as ALMA, that provide information on the distribution of gas and large dust grains down to about 3 AU in nearby (~140 pc) disks.

As the table shown in Fig. 17, adapted from [121] shows, young groups and associations lying within 500 pc of the Sun contain hundreds of young stellar objects with ages less than a few million years, and should thus host planet-forming disks. These proto-planetary disks, like the debris disks discussed above, will contain dust which emits over a wide range of wavelength from the near-infrared to the submillimeter and beyond.

The short wavelengths and warm dust sampled by SPHEREx lie in the innermost regions of the disk, just outside the dust sublimation radius, where observations and theory suggest that an inner rim or wall puffs up due to heating by the adjacent star. Although SPHEREx cannot resolve the structure, it is ideally designed for studying the rim, as the SPHEREx wavelength coverage extends from below 1 μ m, where the starlight will dominate the SED, to the longer wavelengths around 2-to-3 μ m, where the radiation of the rim becomes dominant (Fig. 18).

This inner rim is of particular importance because it is the surface at which the energy from the star comes into the inner disk, the region from which material on its way to being accreted on to the star begins its inward spiral, and the site of the formation of the inner most planets, perhaps similar to Mercury in the Solar System. SPHEREx, by elucidating the energetics and geometry of hundreds of thousands of such structures, can greatly increase our understanding of the importance of these and similar processes which occur in the inner regions of forming solar systems. As was the case for the planetary debris disks, the SPHEREx observations will also identify particularly

Name	Age	Distance	Number of sources
	(Myr)	(pc)	
25 Orionis	7-10	330	46
Cha I	2	160-165	212
Cha II	2 ± 2	178 ± 18	47
CrA	1-3	138 ± 16	35
IC 348	2	285-315	298
λ Orionis	4	400 ± 40	114
Lupus	1-1.5	140 - 200	217
NGC 1333	1	235 ± 18	74
Ophiuchus	2-5	120-145	258
σ Orionis	2-3	440 ± 30	104
Serpens	2	230 ± 20	142
Taurus	1-2	140	265
Upper Sco	11 ± 2	140	405

Figure 17. Table adapted from [121] showing young groups and associations lying within 500 pc.



Figure 18. SPHEREx complements ALMA and JWST

interesting objects for investigation by JWST and ALMA, both of which can study not only the dust but also the gas in proto-planetary systems.

SPHEREx will also provide useful information on the variability of these objects. About 60–70% of disk systems are variable in the NIR [78, 83]. The variability observed points to changes in the height of the inner disk rim which may be due to warps and perturbations in the inner disk stemming from interactions of the disk with a planet or the stellar magnetic field [76, 80, 85, 89].

10 SOFIA

With its database of sources with medium resolution IR spectra over the entire sky, SPHEREx will provide a rich source of targets for follow-on studies at wavelengths longer than 5 microns. For many

of these targets, follow-on studies in the wavelength range from 5 to 320 microns are essential for gleaning key quantitative information on the nature and evolutionary state of these sources: from high redshift galaxies to local planet-forming disks around young stars and protostars.

In particular, SPHEREx will provide a complete all-sky collection of distant galaxies brightened by gravitational lensing. SOFIAs unique wavelength coverage (Fig. 20) will allow the determination of parts of these galaxies SEDs otherwise inaccessible for at least a decade. Recently with SOFIA-HAWC+, Riechers, et al. 2018 (in prep) observed the mid-infrared SED of a z=3.9 galaxy (rest wavelengths 11, 18, & 31 microns) and Ma et al., (2018, submitted) observed a z=1.03 galaxy at rest wavelengths 26, 44, & 76 microns. These high S/N measurements at crucial wavelengths would allow the determination of AGN versus starburst activity as a function of redshift and bolometric luminosity with a sufficiently large sample size. The current sample size of gravitational lens enhanced galaxies is of the order of a few tens, whereas SPHEREx should supply a sample of over hundreds of SOFIA-accessible targets. For the two cases cited above, all three wavelengths were observed with a S/N exceeding 10 in less than one hour.

A second case of interesting follow-on studies are time-dependent phenomena discovered by SPHEREx. It is now generally recognized that protostars of all masses accrete material from their surrounding circumstellar disks stochastically rather than growing at a steady rate. Little is known about such accretion bursts, but it is clear that accretion bursts will result in a variety of related phenomena: luminosity outbursts, variable feedback (radiation and mechanical), variability in outflows and jets. Because of variable accretion and sudden accretion bursts, the outer layers of the central protostars are likely not in thermal equilibrium (one of the basic assumptions of stellar structure models). As a single example, [120] used FORCAST and FIFI-LS observations to derive fundamental parameters of an accretion burst in the high-mass YSO S255IR-NIRS 3. Without these far infrared measurements, quantitative studies of this phenomenon would not have been possible. SPHEREx will provide SOFIA with hundreds of potential targets for related studies, which allow us to finally understand this basic mechanism of star formation.

SPHEREx will find all regions containing ices that will require follow-on studies by SOFIA's HIRMES instrument, specifically designed and optimized to study water in both gaseous and in its



Figure 19. The excess near infrared emission seen by SPHEREx - shown in red in the panel at the upper right and then with the standard model subtracted in the lower right can be used to study the geometry of the puffed up inner wall of an accretion disk around a Young Stellar Object.

solid-state in different phases of planet formation. HIRMES will also be able to observe emission from the lowest excited states of both H2 at 28 microns and HD at 112 microns. Supplementing HIRMES' [O I] 63 micron measurements and [C II] 158 micron studies with FIFI-LS and/or upGREAT can provide crucial information of the structure, temperature and kinematics in protoplanetary disks in different phases of evolution, including high accretion phases discussed above.

SOFIA provides the astronomical community only access to the far infrared wavelength regime for the near future up to its expected lifetime until 2034. Thus, SPHERExs spectral surveys and target lists will be a valuable resource to enhance the discovery space of SOFIA during the era of JWST and ALMA.



Figure 20. SOFIAs near future instrument suite on the spectral resolution versus wavelength plane compared to SPHEREx. It is likely that several of SOFIAs instruments will be replaced with different but more capable instruments by the time of SPHERExs launch.

11 Large-Scale Ground-based Integral Field Spectroscopy Surveys

11.1 A New Generation of Integral Field Spectroscopy Surveys

In the past few years, a number of major ground-based spectroscopic surveys with great synergism with SPHEREx have been proposed or are currently underway. They cover visible and near infrared wavelengths and are remarkably synergistic with SPHEREx. A recent publication [59] lists close

to a dozen such programs expected to be operating prior to and during the SPHEREx mission (Fig. 2). SPHEREx has lower spectral resolution than these surveys, which for the most part aim at studying stellar atmospheres or emission lines in the Milky Way and nearby galaxies. However, what SPHEREx does uniquely is to extend the wavelength coverage of these surveys into the 2 to 5 μ m region while covering the entire sky so that a SPHEREx spectrum will be available for each of the targets of these other surveys. As a specific example, we compare SPHEREx with SDSS-V, a ground-based survey program to be carried out in both hemispheres with three distinct components envisioned to be operating in the 2020-2024 time frame. These three elements are summarized in the following table, adapted from Kollmeier et al. [59], to which we have added a fourth element that they describe in their paper, SPHEREx, and a separate survey called MOONS which is intended to be carried out on the VLT [60]. MOONS is included because it resembles SPHEREx in wavelength coverage. These surveys rely on large fiber bundles to feed multi-object spectrographs. When the targets are stars and galaxies, the fibers are positioned appropriately. For the LVM part of the SDSS survey, they are closely packed to achieve complete areal coverage on the sky.

It is clear from Table 4 that there is a tremendous amount of synergism between SPHEREx and all of these surveys, none of which extends beyond 2 μ m in wavelength. SPHEREx will provide a long wavelength extension to essentially every spectrum obtained by these major programs, as well as a short wavelength overlap which will assure proper matching of the spectra and cross-calibration. As is the case with the 2MASS and WISE surveys described earlier, this added spectral coverage will enhance the value of the survey data in ways beyond a simple sum of the surveys. In some cases, particularly that of MOONS, one can also imagine these survey instruments, with their higher spectral resolution, being used to follow up on results from SPHEREx. More specifically, a few examples of how SPHEREx will connect with the elements of the SDSS-V survey include:

- 1. Milky Way Mapper [MWM]. A major objective of the MWM is to study reddened stars in the plane of the galaxy. The addition of SPHEREx data will allow the reddening of these stars to be determined precisely and the stars to be positioned along the line of sight, with reference to the three-dimensional distribution of interstellar dust developed by Finkebeiner and colleagues [70], even for stars too highly reddened to be seen by Gaia.
- 2. Black Hole Mapper [BHM]. A major objective of the BHM is to study the structure of AGN by reverberation mapping, which measures the time delay between optical variability of the AGN and the response of the circum-nuclear gas and dust. SPHEREx will provide constraints on the interpretation of these data by obtaining spectra of these objects which span the complete wavelength range from the variable heating in the optical to the response of the heated dust in the infrared.
- 3. Local Volume Mapper [LVM]. LVM will obtain complete spectra from 0.36-to-1 μ m of selected regions within the Milky Way, the Magellanic Clouds, and Local Group Galaxies. It will provide data on the gas in these regions to complement, at least locally, the stellar spectra obtained by the MWM. SPHEREx will add to the LVM data cubes information obtainable only in the infrared: absorption due to interstellar/circumstellar ices; PAH emission at 3.3 μ m; and gas phase emission lines, not only recombination lines of HI but also emission from shock-excited CO and H2. The LVM pixels sizes will range between 2.7" and 37", depending

on the instrument configuration. Given that it will be easy to degrade the resolution of either survey, these numbers match nicely with the 6" SPHEREx pixels.

4. The Solar Vicinity Census (SVC). SVC is a subproject of the MWM aimed at getting the best possible spectra of all stars within 100 pc using both the infrared and the visible wavelength spectrographs which make up the SDSS-V instrumentation. This census will be greatly augmented by the addition of the [SPHEREx + Gaia] data discussed earlier in the context of exoplanet host stars. This will provide data on stellar masses, radii, and temperatures which will combine with the high resolution SVC spectroscopy to provide a complete data base on the nearest stars, which will have enough entries (400,000) to support statistical studies as well as analysis of individual stars.

11.2 Spectrally Mapping Nearby Galaxies

A particularly strong synergy between SPHEREx and these coming surveys will be the spectral mapping of nearby galaxies. While SPHEREx was not necessarily designed with nearby galaxy observations in mind, the spatial and spectral coverage will allow many interesting studies. In particular, in nearby galaxies we can image the individual stars that are producing the light seen in the SPHEREx spectroscopy.

Since the SPHEREx spectra covering nearby galaxies will be the integrated spectra of a large number of stars, it will be informative to compare these to the properties of the resolved stellar populations whenever possible. With the current HST resolved star library on nearby galaxies, some of this kind of work can be done, but when WFIRST gives us full coverage of these galaxies, there will be a wealth of information for testing population synthesis models and mapping galaxy properties. Deeper exposures than the nominal SPHEREx all sky survey at the locations of large galaxies within 10 Mpc would be of great interest for such work.

Matching integrated spectroscopy and resolved stellar photometry has been ongoing in the optical, and has yielded encouraging results, finding general agreement between models and data in many cases [149–151], but there are also offsets that exist. A large amount of such optical spectroscopy is available through SDSS IV, and more is planned in SDSS V. The SPHEREx spectroscopy will complement all of this effort in the optical with NIR spectra, providing a huge library of data for improving population synthesis models in the NIR. In particular, the near IR can be difficult to model reliably because of high luminosity and short-lived red He-burning stars and asymptotic giant branch stars [152–154]. There is still much work to do to understand the effects of these, especially when interpreting NIR spectroscopy, and SPHEREx and WFIRST together should allow large leaps in our understanding.

12 SPHEREx Observation of the Interstellar Medium at High Redshift

12.1 ISM masses at High Redshift

SPHEREx will also allow us to probe directly the multiple phases of Hydrogen. We first review in very qualitative fashion the ISM contents of star forming (SF) galaxies at high redshift as derived from ALMA measurements the Rayleigh-Jeans dust continuum. The translation of RJ continuum fluxes at $\lambda_{rest} > 300 \mu$ m to ISM masses is based on an empirical calibration derived from a sample

Program	Science Targets	Nobjects	Wavelength Range,
		and Sky Area	Resolution,
		and Sky Area	and Limiting Sensitivity
Milky Way Mapper	Stars across the MW,	>6M stars;	$1.51\text{-}1.7 \ \mu \mathrm{m},$
(MWM, part of SDSS-V)	esp. in the plane	$4 \pi \mathrm{sr}$	R=22000,
			H~13.4
Black Hole Mapper	Supermassive Black Holes	$>400,000; 4\pi$ sr.	0.37-1 μm
(BHM, part of SDSS-V)			R=2000
			$I\simeq 20$
Local Volume Mapper	ISM and stars in MW	> 25 M spectra	0.36-1 μm
(LVM, part of SDSS-V)	and and nearby galaxies	contiguous over $\simeq 1$ sr.	R=2500-4000
Solar Vicinity Census	All stars with 100 pc	Combines Instruments	G≃20, H≃12
(SVC, part of SDSS-V)	400,000 stars, 4pi sr.	used in rows $1\&2$	
MOONS	Varied	10,000,000 objects,	0.6-1.8 μm,
ESO initiative on VLT		$\simeq .05$ sr.	R=5000-20000,
			$G\simeq 22, H\simeq 17$
SPHEREx	Agnostic	> 100,000,000 stars,	$0.75\text{-}5~\mu\mathrm{m},$
		$> 10^9$ galaxies, 4π sr.	R=30-130,
		6" pixels	H≃19, I≃18

Table 4.

of over 75 low-z normal SF galaxies, ULIRGs and high-z sub-mm galaxies (SMGs) having measured RJ dust and CO (1-0) fluxes. This calibration shows better than factor 2 accuracy (see [69]). The empirical calibration of the technique [69] is based on three different low and high redshift galaxy samples: (i) a sample of 30 local star forming galaxies; (ii) 12 low-z Ultraluminous Infrared Galaxies (ULIRGs); and (iii) 30 $z \sim 2$ SMGs.

ALMA observations of the long wavelength dust continuum were used to estimate the interstellar medium (ISM) masses in a sample of 708 galaxies at z = 0.3 to 4.5 in the COSMOS field [69]. The galaxy sample has known far-infrared luminosities and, hence, star formation rates (SFRs), and stellar masses (M_{*}) from the optical-infrared spectrum fitting. The derived ISM masses are used to determine the dependence of gas mass on redshift, M_{*}, and specific SFR (sSFR) relative to the galaxy Main Sequence (MS).

Enormous increases in the gas contents of galaxies are seen above $z \sim 1$, getting up to gas mass fractions (gas / (stars + gas)) of 80% at z = 4 (see Figure 21). The ISM masses increase approximately as the 0.63 power of the rate of increase in SFRs with redshift and the 0.32 power of the sSFR/sSFR_{MS}. The SF efficiencies also increase as the 0.36 power of the SFR redshift evolutionary and the 0.7 power of the elevation above the MS; thus the increased activities at early epochs are driven by both increased ISM masses and SF efficiency. Using the derived ISM mass function we estimate the accretion rates of gas required to maintain continuity of the MS evolution (> 100 $M_{\odot}yr^{-1}$ at z > 2.5). Simple power-law dependences are similarly derived for the gas accretion rates. We argue that the overall evolution of galaxies is driven by the rates of gas accretion. The cosmic



Figure 21. The mass fraction of ISM are shown for galaxies with stellar masses $M_* = 10^{10}$ to $10^{12} M_{\odot}$ as derived from the Rayleigh-Jeans dust emission [69]

evolution of total ISM mass is estimated and linked to the evolution of SF and AGN activity at early epochs. Table 5 summarizes the ISM contents, gas mass-fractions and accretion rates normalized to z = 2.

The gas mass fractions computed for galaxies with $M_* = 10^{10}$ to 10^{12} M_{\odot} are shown in Figure 21. The ISM is dominant over the stellar mass down to $z \simeq 1.5$. At z = 3 to 4 the gas mass fractions get up to ~ 80% when averaged over the galaxy population. Thus, the evolution of ISM contents which peak at $z \simeq 2$, is likely responsible for the peak in SF and AGN activity at that epoch [56, and references therein]. At z = 4 down to 2, the buildup in the ISM density is almost identical to that of the cosmic SFRD shown in Figure 22.

13 Cross-Correlations with the Kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich Effect

While the synergies with SPHEREx and large-scale Cosmic Microwave Background (CMB) surveys are numerous, cross-correlation studies with the kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect are among the most promising. CMB photons interact with late-time matter through a number of scattering and gravitational processes that imprint additional small-scale anisotropy on the CMB. In particular,

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{M}_{\mathrm{ISM}} &= 8.65 \times 10^{10} \ \mathbf{M}_{\odot} \ \times \left[(1+z)_{2}^{1.84} \times (\mathrm{sSFR/sSFR_{MS}})^{0.32} \times \mathbf{M}_{*.5}^{0.30} \right] \\ \mathrm{SFR} &= 9.9 \times \left(\frac{\mathrm{M}_{\mathrm{ISM}}}{10^{10} \mathrm{M}_{\odot}} \right) \ \mathbf{M}_{\odot} \ \mathrm{yr}^{-1} \ \times \left[(1+z)_{2}^{1.04} \times (\mathrm{sSFR/sSFR_{MS}})^{0.70} \times \mathbf{M}_{*.5}^{0.01} \right] \\ &= 85 \ \mathrm{M}_{\odot} \ \mathrm{yr}^{-1} \ \times \left[\left(\frac{\mathrm{M}_{\mathrm{ISM}}}{8.65 \times 10^{10} \mathrm{M}_{\odot}} \right) \times (1+z)_{2}^{1.04} \times (\mathrm{sSFR/sSFR_{MS}})^{0.70} \times \mathbf{M}_{*.5}^{0.01} \right] \\ \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{acc} &= 73 \ \mathrm{M}_{\odot} \ \mathrm{yr}^{-1} \times \left[2.3 \times (1+z)_{2}^{3.60} \times \left(\mathbf{M}_{*.5}^{0.56} - 0.56 \times \mathbf{M}_{*.5}^{0.74} \right) \right] \\ \tau_{\mathrm{dep}} &\equiv \frac{\mathrm{M}_{\mathrm{ISM}}}{\mathrm{SFR}} = 1.01 \ \mathrm{Gyr} \ \times \left[(1+z)_{2}^{-1.04} \times (\mathrm{sSFR/sSFR_{MS}})^{-0.70} \times \mathbf{M}_{*.5}^{-0.01} \right] \\ \mathrm{gas/stellar} &\equiv \frac{\mathrm{M}_{\mathrm{ISM}}}{\mathrm{M}_{*}} = 1.74 \ \times \left[(1+z)_{2}^{1.84} \times (\mathrm{sSFR/sSFR_{MS}})^{0.32} \times \mathbf{M}_{*.5}^{-0.70} \right] \\ \mathrm{f}_{\mathrm{gas}} &\equiv \frac{\mathrm{M}_{\mathrm{ISM}}}{\mathrm{M}_{*} + \mathrm{M}_{\mathrm{ISM}}} = 0.63 \ \times \left[1.58 / \left(1 \ + \ 0.58 \times (1+z)_{2}^{-1.84} \times (\mathrm{sSFR/sSFR_{MS}})^{-0.32} \times \mathrm{M}_{*.5}^{0.70} \right) \right] \end{split}$$

Table 5. ISM, SFR and accretion normalized. The equations are written in a form such that the quantity in [] in each equation is equal to unity at z = 2 and $M_* = 5 \times 10^{10} M_{\odot}$. $(1 + z)_2$ is (1 + z) normalized to its value at z = 2 where (1+z)=3. $M_* _5$ is the stellar mass normalized to $5 \times 10^{10} M_{\odot}$. The fourth relation is obtained by canceling out the $M_{\rm ISM}$ term in the second equation, not by division of the first equation by the second. See original equations in text for the uncertainties in the coefficients.

the thermal and kinematic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effects (tSZ and kSZ), caused by inverse Compton scattering of CMB photons off $kT \sim 1 \text{ keV}$ electrons, allow us to directly image the gas near the outskirts of galaxies and can yield important information on the thermodynamics and formation history of massive halos. These SZ probes are particularly interesting because the amount of ionized gas observed inside galaxies and clusters falls short of the cosmological abundance – the so-called "missing baryon problem" [2]. The majority of this gas is expected to be located in the outskirts of galaxies in a diffuse state, making it difficult to observe directly, especially for low mass halos at high redshifts. Locating these missing baryons in galaxy groups would have far-reaching implications for galaxy formation models by helping constrain the amplitude and effect of feedback processes [20].

Currently, the diffuse outskirt gas is poorly characterized, which is problematic for a variety of cosmological measurements. For example, taking full advantage of upcoming large-scale structure experiments like Euclid, LSST, and WFIRST will require modeling the matter power spectrum to percent precision [3, 4]. Since baryons constitute more than 15% of the total mass in the universe, the current uncertainty on the baryon profile in halos is therefore a major limiting systematic in such studies.

The kSZ effect, which is sourced by the Doppler boosting of CMB photons scattering off electrons with a non-zero peculiar velocity, offers a way to study this gas. In temperature units, the shift $\Delta T^{\text{kSZ}}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}})$ produced by the kSZ effect is sourced by the free electron momentum field $n_e \boldsymbol{v}_e$, and is given by [5, 6]:

$$\frac{\Delta T^{\text{kSZ}}(\hat{\boldsymbol{n}})}{T_{\text{CMB}}} = -\sigma_T \int \frac{d\chi}{1+z} e^{-\tau(\chi)} n_e(\chi \hat{\boldsymbol{n}}, \chi) \; \frac{\boldsymbol{v}_e}{c} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{n}}, \tag{13.1}$$



Figure 22. The evolution of the cosmic star formation rate density (SFRD) from [56] is shown for comparison with the overall evolution of ISM content derived from the dust emission (Right panel, [69]). The SFRD evolution has been corrected to a Chabrier IMF from the original Salpeter IMF used in [56]. A typical uncertainty in the SFRD is shown as 0.1 dex [see 56].

where σ_T is the Thomson scattering cross section, τ is the optical depth to Thomson scattering, $\chi(z)$ is the co-moving distance to redshift z, n_e and v_e are the *free* electron number density and peculiar velocity, and \hat{n} is the line-of-sight direction. The kSZ signal is linear in the gas mass, making it a unique probe of the low density and low temperature regions expected in the galaxy outskirts. The kSZ measurements can be compared with most other observables, either non-linear in the gas mass or dependent on the gas temperature, to search for and constrain the formation and evolution of massive halos.

We forecast the expected signal-to-noise ratio S/N of kSZ measurements combined with photometric redshifts from SPHEREx following the formalism of [20], which includes realistic gas profiles and CMB noise properties. The kSZ S/N is mostly sensitive to the actual electron profile, which is uncertain for low mass galaxy groups, and to the noise in the CMB temperature maps, including from the atmosphere. Most kSZ estimators in the literature [10, 12–16] require either spectroscopic redshifts or very accurate photometric redshifts ($\sigma(z) \leq 0.01$). For the most conservative estimate, we only include the two samples with highest redshift accuracy from [17]. We assume a bias $b \approx 1.1$, redshift $\bar{z} \approx 0.3$, a total number of galaxies on half of the sky $N \approx 24.5$ million, and a CMB map noise of 7 μ K-arcmin, typical of an upcoming "Stage-3" wide-field experiment. The resulting kSZ S/N is 70, much higher than current measurements ($S/N \sim 3$). Future CMB experiments, such as a proposed "CMB S4" survey [21], are expected to have smaller map noise and should allow an even higher S/N detection, even though the amplitude of the noise from fluctuations in the atmosphere is still uncertain.

A technique that operates in the absence of detailed redshift information has been developed [7]. With this method, only a statistical redshift distribution for the overall source sample is required, which would allow us to use the full SPHEREx catalog. The concept is to cross-correlate tracers with the square of an appropriately filtered CMB map. The squaring operation circumvents the cancellation of the kSZ signal due to the alternating signs of the line-of-sight velocities, thus allowing a detection in cross-correlation. This estimator has been recently used to detect the kSZ signal from WISE-selected galaxies in combination with Planck CMB data [18]. Forecast work [19] suggests that a very large signal to noise $(S/N \gtrsim 100)$ can be achieved by combining SPHEREx with upcoming CMB experiments. This method requires a very good foreground control on the CMB temperature map, and may ultimately be limited by residual contamination.

As we motivate in the preceding discussion, the combination of current and future CMB experiments with large-scale structure surveys like SPHEREx will yield very high significance detections of the kSZ effect. This, in turn, will allow precision measurement of the baryon profile in the outskirts of the SPHEREx galaxies. The achieved S/N are sufficient to allow, for the first time, detailed sub-sample studies. For example, the baryon profile is expected to depend both on the mass and the redshift of the host halo, and could depend on other galaxy properties. The unique spectral coverage of SPHEREx over the full sky allows for the selection and comparison of different populations, shedding light on the effect of feedback and star formation on the gas. Moreover, when combined with tSZ and lensing measurements, a full thermodynamic picture of the host halo can be obtained, constraining the amount of energy injected by feedback, as well as the gas density, temperature and the fraction of non-thermal pressure support [20]. Related techniques can be used to turn the kSZ measurements in constraints on the velocity correlation function, which is a potentially powerful probe of scale-dependent modified gravity.

14 Novel Scientific Opportunities Enabled by SPHEREx

In this section, we discuss novel scientific opportunities that were presented at this community workshop.

14.1 Other probe of primordial non-Gaussianity with unbiased tracers

The standard approach to detect $f_{\rm NL}$ from galaxy surveys is to use highly biased tracers, relying on nature to do the biasing. This sensitivity to $f_{\rm NL}$ comes by increasing the weight in collapsed regions, tending to be in large-scale potential wells if $f_{\rm NL} > 0$. But instead of relying on nature, we can also bias the field ourselves, as explored by Neyrinck, et al. (2018, in prep.). This works best if we have some estimate of halo mass, but a proxy such as luminosity may work, as well. Fig. 23 shows the effect on various power spectra from changing $f_{\rm NL}$ from 0 to 80, measured from 1.2 h^{-1} Gpc, 1024³particle simulations [11]. The power spectrum of 'unbiased' halos of mass $>\sim 10^{13} M_{\odot}$ is essentially insensitive to $f_{\rm NL}$. The power spectrum becomes sensitive to $f_{\rm NL}$ when the mass threshold increases by a factor of 10, in the 'biased' sample. But similar sensitivity comes through mass-weighting the halos of the $10^{13} M_{\odot}$ sample. This signal can even be enhanced by further increasing the weight of high densities, i.e. applying a Box-Cox [8, 9] transform with index 2 (top curve). Many details remain to be worked out: whether to use an estimate of mass, or luminosity, to weight the galaxies



Figure 23. Producing a sensitivity to $f_{\rm NL}$ from an unbiased tracer for which some mass information is available. The vertical axis shows the change in the log of the power spectrum when $f_{\rm NL}$ changes from 0 to 80 in a $(1.2 \ h^{-1} {\rm Gpc})^3$ volume; error bars on $f_{\rm NL}$ scale inversely with this quantity. This large-scale bias was estimated using cross-correlations with the matter density field.

or halos, and what transformations will give the best results in light of various noise sources. But in principle, this introduces a whole family of estimators of $f_{\rm NL}$, even from a single galaxy sample.

SPHEREx is ideally suited to make these measurements, not only from the biased tracers being used for the main $f_{\rm NL}$ constraints, but from other, less-biased tracers it can characterize. In particular, SPHEREx's unprecedented map of the extra-galactic background light will allow an estimate of $f_{\rm NL}$ highly complementary to that from the standard probe.

14.2 Probing the three phases of Hydrogen with SPHEREx at High Redshift

SPHEREx can probe three states of hydrogen in galaxies: (i) shock-heated H2 via the vibrational line emission at $\lambda_{rest} \simeq 2.1 \ \mu m$; (ii) ionized HII associated with active star-forming (SF) regions and starburst galaxies in H α ($\lambda_{rest} \simeq 6563$ Å) (out to $z \sim 3$); and (iii) cosmic HII structures during the epoch of reionization (at $z \sim 6-10$) in Lyman- α emission. In each case below, we express the expected emission in terms of the line luminosity in solar units (L_{\odot}).

14.2.1 H_2 Emission

The 2.12 μ m H₂ v = 1 - 0 emission lines are a major probe of shock-cooling molecules behind shocks at velocities of 5 – 40 km s⁻¹. As this gas cools from 4000 K to 1000 K, this band is responsible for the dominant cooling. Very approximately, we can expect $\frac{5}{2} k\Delta T$ ergs of energy radiated per molecule behind the shock, where k is the Boltzmann constant and $\Delta T = 3000$ K. If on average every molecule going into star formation passes though such a shock once, then the H₂ cooling luminosity will be:

$$L_{\rm H2} \sim 5 \times 10^5 \, \left[{\rm SFR} / (100 \, {\rm M_{\odot} yr^{-1}}) \right] L_{\odot} \,.$$
 (14.1)

Using the 5σ (all-sky) sensitivity for SPHEREx in the 2μ m band, this implies the ability to detect a SFR ~ $10 M_{\odot} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ per pixel at a distance of 20 Mpc.

In addition to the crude physical estimate above, the H₂ luminosity can be derived empirically using existing observations of low-z galaxies. In a sample of ULIRGs Davies et al. [91] find the intensity of the H₂ S(1) line at 2.12 μ m to be generally comparable to that of the HI Br γ line. Using Case B recombination line intensities for H α (that is, assuming that photons above 13.6 eV are reabsorbed; see Eqn. 14.4 below) and assuming that Br γ is 104 times weaker than H α (e.g., [92]), we find:

$$L_{\rm H2} \sim 5 \times 10^7 \, \left[{\rm SFR} / (100 \, {\rm M_{\odot} yr^{-1}}) \right] L_{\odot} \,.$$
 (14.2)

This line should be detectable in large numbers of local star-forming galaxies, and even some highredshift star-forming galaxies.

14.2.2 H α Emission to probe SFRs

To assess the detectability of $H\alpha$ with SPHEREX we can use the well-developed relation between the SFR and the Lyman continuum emission rate associated with the young stellar population, assuming a standard Chabrier IMF:

$$Q_{Lyc} = 1.4 \times 10^{55} \text{sec}^{-1} \left[\text{SFR} / (100 \, M_{\odot} \text{yr}^{-1}) \right], \qquad (14.3)$$

and assuming Case B recombination,

$$L_{H\alpha} = 4.9 \times 10^9 L_{\odot} \, \left[SFR / (100 \, M_{\odot} yr^{-1}) \right].$$
(14.4)

For the SPHEREx 5σ (all-sky) sensitivities for H α as a function of redshift, the implication is that we should detect any SFR regions with rates $> 20 \,\mathrm{M}_{\odot} \,\mathrm{yr}^{-1}$ at z = 0.14 to $3000 \,\mathrm{M}_{\odot} \,\mathrm{yr}^{-1}$ at z = 6.6. The latter are probably about the maximum to be expected at the end of reionization. At intermediate redshifts one can expect to detect SFRs like those in ULIRGs, provided that the extinctions are not prohibitive.

14.2.3 HI Lyman- α during Epoch of Reionization (EOR)

To estimate the expected fluxes in Lyman- α from galaxies and large scale structure ionized bubbles during EOR (z = 6-10), we take the most optimistic viewpoint, namely that the HII emission can be modeled as Case A recombination (photons with energy above 13.6 eV are not re-absorbed) with no dust, which is probably valid outside individual galaxies. Then assuming Eqn. 14.3 again, we have:

$$L_{Ly\alpha} = 3.7 \times 10^{10} L_{\odot} \left[SFR / (100 \,\mathrm{M_{\odot}yr^{-1}}) \right], \tag{14.5}$$

which predicts a factor of ~ 10 greater than the relation for H α .

At z = 5.16, the lowest redshift of Ly α covered by the SPHEREx bands, the co-moving volume per resolution element is ~ 400 cMpc³. At this redshift, the EOR models of Trac et al. [93] have an average co-moving SFR ~ 0.1 M_☉ yr⁻¹, which yields a luminosity in Ly α similar to the SPHEREx 5σ (deep) sensitivity. At EOR the structures are likely to be highly biased, and therefore a large fluctuation in star formation activity from place to place can be expected. This would imply that the there are likely to be areas where the individual resolution elements are detectable without resort to stacking or two-point statistical techniques such as correlation functions.

14.3 Forecasts for the number of detectable QSOs at z > 6 in SPHEREX

Quasi-Stellar Objects (QSOs) are among the most luminous objects in the Universe. They are triggered by the fall of gas onto a super-massive black hole (SMBH), and it is believed that every galaxy has one at its center. Thanks to their high luminosity, QSOs can be used to trace the large-scale structure of the Universe up to very high redshift (high-z) using their clustering [94] or Lyman α forest observations [e.g., 99]. In addition, the number of QSOs at z > 6 can be used to set constraints on the epoch of reionization [e.g., 97].

To predict the number of QSOs detectable by SPHEREx at high-z (z > 6) we analyze the cosmological hydrodynamical simulation BLUETIDES [98]. BLUETIDES evolved 2×7040^3 particles in a comoving volume of $400^3 h^{-3}$ Mpc³ from z = 99 to z = 7.6. We find this simulation especially suited to do forecasts for SPHEREx, as the main source of uncertainty in high-z predictions is cosmic variance and BLUETIDES is the largest high-z simulation up-to-date.

In the left panel of Fig. 24 we display the spectral energy distribution (SED) of a QSO with magnitude mag $(2\mu m) = 19$ at redshift z = 7 (orange line) and a simulated SPHEREx observation of this object (blue dots). The SED is computed by applying extinction shortward Lyman α due to neutral hydrogen at high-z [using Gun-Peterson opacity measurements from 95] to a QSO composite created from the spectra of 2 200 SDSS QSOs at z < 5 [100]. The spectral resolution of SPHEREx is more than enough to resolve several QSO emission lines, which can be used to compute QSOs redshifts with very good precision and to identify them with great reliability using automatic algorithms [96].

In the right panel of Fig. 24 we show the number of QSOs at 6 < z < 8 that can be detected by SPHEREx (blue line) and SPHEREx-deep (orange line) as a function of detection signal-to-noise (SNR). We employ a Schechter function to model the number of QSOs as a function of observed magnitude, and we determine this function by fitting the number of QSOs in BLUETIDES at z = 7.6. We note that a Schechter function provides a lower limit for the number of bright sources, as BLUETIDES' data is also well fit by a power law. To make predictions at different redshifts we account for the evolution in the number of QSOs using Fig. 5 of Waters et al. [101]. In the *y*-axis we show the total detection SNR, which is computed by combining that of every frequency unit with SNR> 0.5 for simulated SPHEREx observations. We expect SPHEREx to detect the $\simeq 1100$ most luminous QSOs in the Universe with a total SNR> 50, which will set the strongest constraints on the bright end of the QSO luminosity function up to redshift z = 8. Furthermore, in the polar regions SPHEREx will detect around $\simeq 10^4$ QSOs, which will allow to systematically study the redshift evolution of the fraction of neutral Hydrogen during the epoch of reionization.

15 Conclusion

The two SPHEREx Community Workshops identified and discussed many important scientific investigations enabled by the unique 0.75-to-5 μ m all sky spectral data base which would be the legacy of SPHEREx. The combination of this Legacy Science with SPHEREx expected major contributions to the three science themes which drive the mission design would allow SPHEREx to follow in the illustrious scientific footsteps of earlier all-sky surveys such as IRAS, COBE, Planck and WISE and make SPHEREx a worthy participant in the "Decade of the Surveys". The 2018 Workshop, reviewed and summarized in this White Paper, concentrated on the many synergies between SPHEREx and



Figure 24. Left panel: spectral energy distribution of a QSO with magnitude $mag(2\mu m) = 19$ at redshift z = 7 (orange line) and simulated SPHEREx observation (blue dots). The spectral resolution of SPHEREx allows to resolve multiple QSO emission lines, which enables to unambiguously identify QSOs and to compute their redshifts with great precision. **Right panel**: number of QSOs at 6 < z < 8 detectable by SPHEREx and SPHEREx-deep as a function of detection signal-to-noise. SPHEREx will detect the 1 100 brightest high-z QSOs in the Universe and 10^4 additional QSOs in the polar regions.

other missions and data bases, including predecessor missions such as WISE and TESS, contemporaneous missions such as JWST and Euclid, and even successor missions, including WFIRST and PlATO. The synergies extend beyond SPHEREX VIS/IR spectral band to include the X-ray mission eROSITA and the ALMA sub-millimeter array, as additional examples.

The coupling of SPHEREx to NASAs next major space observatory, JWST, is particularly important because the JWST wavelength range, measurement capabilities, and schedule encompass those of SPHEREx. However, SPHEREx all-sky survey capability adds a dimension which JWST cannot approach. On the current schedule, in which JWST launches in mid-2020 and SPHEREx in 2023, the first SPHEREx data releases, publicly available in mid-2023, can be mined for puzzling and unusual targets – candidate high redshift quasars and sources with unusual ice spectra, to cite two possible examples – which can be further explored with JWSTs superior sensitivity, and spectral and spatial resolution. Delaying SPHEREx beyond 2023 would undermine this valuable synergy.

The scientific examples discussed throughout this White Paper illuminate the power of this all-sky survey, which will provide spectra of hundreds of millions of objects. The SPHEREx data would be a new tool for astronomers, but the previously described examples are necessarily limited to at most an extension of our current knowledge. As a final thought, we point out that SPHEREx, like all sky surveys which open new parameter space, has the potential to yield new discoveries which change our view of the astronomical Universe.

Acknowledgments

O.D and M.W. would like to warmly thank Gary Melnick, Matt Ashby and Volker Tolls for leading the logistical effort that made this workshop so successful. Part of the research described in this paper was carried out at the Jet Propulsion Laboratory, California Institute of Technology, under a contract with the National Aeronautics and Space Administration. The information presented about SPHEREx is pre-decisional and is provided for planning and discussion purposes only.

References

- O. Doré *et al.*, "Science Impacts of the SPHEREX All-Sky Optical to Near-Infrared Spectral Survey: Report of a Community Workshop Examining Extragalactic, Galactic, Stellar and Planetary Science", arXiv:1606.07039 [astro-ph.CO].
- [2] Fukugita, M., & Peebles, P. J. E. 2004, ApJ, 616, 643
- [3] Osato, K., Shirasaki, M., & Yoshida, N. 2015, ApJ , 806, 186
- [4] Eifler, T., Krause, E., Dodelson, S., et al. 2015, MNRAS, 454, 2451
- [5] R.A. Sunyaev and Ya.B. Zel'dovich, Comments Astrophys. Space Phys. 4, 173 (1972).
- [6] Ostriker, J. P., & Vishniac, E. T. 1986, ApJ, 306, L51
- [7] Doré, O., Hennawi, J. F., & Spergel, D. N. 2004, ApJ, 606, 46
- [8] Box, G. E. P., & Cox, D. R. 1964, Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological), 26, pp. 211
- B. Joachimi, A. N. Taylor and A. Kiessling, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 2011 418, 145 [Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 418, 145 (2011)] doi:10.1111/j.1365-2966.2011.19472.x [arXiv:1104.1399 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [10] Ho, S., Dedeo, S., & Spergel, D. 2009, arXiv:0903.2845
- [11] A. Pillepich, C. Porciani and O. Hahn, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 402, 191 (2010) doi:10.1111/j.1365-2966.2009.15914.x [arXiv:0811.4176 [astro-ph]].
- [12] Shao, J., Zhang, P., Lin, W., Jing, Y., & Pan, J. 2011, MNRAS, 413, 628
- [13] Li, M., Angulo, R. E., White, S. D. M., & Jasche, J. 2014, MNRAS, 443, 2311
- [14] Ferreira, P. G., Juszkiewicz, R., Feldman, H. A., Davis, M., & Jaffe, A. H. 1999, ApJ, 515, L1
- [15] Bhattacharya, S., & Kosowsky, A. 2008, Phys. Rev. D , 77, 083004
- [16] Schaan, E., Ferraro, S., Vargas-Magaña, M., et al. 2015, arXiv:1510.06442
- [17] Doré, O., Bock, J., Ashby, M., et al. 2014, arXiv:1412.4872
- [18] Hill, J. C., Ferraro, S., Battaglia, N., Liu, J., & Spergel, D. N. 2016, arXiv:1603.01608
- [19] Ferraro, S., Hill, J. C., Battaglia, N., Liu, J., & Spergel, D. N. 2016, Phys. Rev. D , 94, 123526
- [20] Battaglia, N., Ferraro, S., Schaan, E., & Spergel, D. N. 2017, JCAP, 11, 040
- [21] Abazajian, K. N., Adshead, P., Ahmed, Z., et al. 2016, arXiv:1610.02743
- [22] Burrows, A., Hubbard, W. B., Lunine, J. I., & Liebert, J. 2001, Reviews of Modern Physics, 73, 719
- [23] Cushing, M. C., Rayner, J. T., & Vacca, W. D. 2005, ApJ, 623, 1115
- [24] Dupuy, T. J., & Liu, M. C. 2012, ApJS , 201, 19
- [25] Gagné, J., et al. 2017, ApJS , 228, 18
- [26] Geballe, T. R., Saumon, D., Golimowski, D. A., Leggett, S. K., Marley, M. S., & Noll, K. S. 2009, ApJ, 695, 844

- [27] Leggett, S. K., Morley, C. V., Marley, M. S., & Saumon, D. 2015, ApJ, 799, 37
- [28] Leggett, S. K., Saumon, D., Marley, M. S., Geballe, T. R., Golimowski, D. A., Stephens, D., & Fan, X. 2007, ApJ, 655, 1079
- [29] Leggett, S. K., Tremblin, P., Esplin, T. L., Luhman, K. L., & Morley, C. V. 2017, ApJ, 842, 118
- [30] Mamajek, E. E. 2016, in IAU Symposium, Vol. 314, Young Stars & Planets Near the Sun, ed. J. H. Kastner, B. Stelzer, & S. A. Metchev, 21–26
- [31] Noll, K. S., Geballe, T. R., Leggett, S. K., & Marley, M. S. 2000, ApJ, 541, L75
- [32] Noll, K. S., Geballe, T. R., & Marley, M. S. 1997, ApJ, 489, L87
- [33] Saumon, D., Marley, M. S., Lodders, K., & Freedman, R. S. 2003, in IAU Symposium, Vol. 211, Brown Dwarfs, ed. E. Martín, 345
- [34] Stephens, D. C., et al. 2009, ApJ, 702, 154
- [35] Yamamura, I., Tsuji, T., & Tanabé, T. 2010, ApJ, 722, 682
- [36] Bruzual G. & Charlot S., 2003, MNRAS, 344, 1000
- [37] Coupon, J., Arnouts, S., van Waerbeke, L., et al. 2015, MNRAS, 449, 1352
- [38] Coupon, J., Kilbinger, M., McCracken, H. J., et al. 2012, A&A , 542, A5.
- [39] Donley, J. L., Koekemoer, A. M., Brusa, M., et al. 2012, ApJ, 748, 142
- [40] Laigle, C., McCracken, H. J., Ilbert, O., et al. 2016, ApJS , 224, 24
- [41] Laigle, C., Pichon, C., Arnouts, S., et al. 2018, MNRAS, 474, 5437
- [42] Laureijs, R., Amiaux, J., Arduini, S., et al. 2011, arXiv:1110.3193
- [43] Leauthaud, A., Tinker, J., Bundy, K., et al. 2012, ApJ, 744, 159
- [44] Schaerer, D., & de Barros, S. 2009, A&A , 502, 423
- [45] Berta, S., Lutz, D., Nordon, R., et al. 2013, A&A , 555, L8
- [46] Béthermin, M., Daddi, E., Magdis, G., et al. 2012, ApJ, 757, L23
- [47] Carilli, C. L., & Walter, F. 2013, ARA&A, 51, 105
- [48] Darvish, B., Mobasher, B., Sobral, D., et al. 2016, ApJ, 825, 113
- [49] Decarli, R., Walter, F., Aravena, M., et al. 2016, ApJ, 833, 69
- [50] Eales, S., de Vis, P., Smith, M., et al. 2016, ArXiv e-prints, arXiv:1611.00367
- [51] Ilbert, O., McCracken, H. J., Le Fèvre, O., et al. 2013, A&A , 556, A55
- [52] Lagos, C. D. P., Baugh, C. M., Lacey, C. G., et al. 2011, MNRAS, 418, 1649
- [53] Lee, N., Sanders, D. B., Casey, C. M., et al. 2015, ApJ, 801, 80
- [54] Leitner, S. N. 2012, ApJ, 745, 149
- [55] Leitner, S. N., & Kravtsov, A. V. 2011, ApJ , 734, 48
- [56] Madau, P., & Dickinson, M. 2014, ARA&A , 52, 415
- [57] Noeske, K. G., Faber, S. M., Weiner, B. J., et al. 2007, ApJ , 660, L47
- [58] Noeske, K. G., Weiner, B. J., Faber, S. M., et al. 2007, ApJ , 660, L43

- [59] Kollmeier, J. A., Zasowski, G., Rix, H.-W., et al. 2017, ArXiv e-prints , arXiv:1711.03234.
- [60] Cirasuolo, M., Afonso, J., Carollo, M., Flores, H., Maiolino, R., et al., 2014, Proceedings of the SPIE, Volume 9147, id. 91470N 13, doi: 10.1117/12.2056012
- [61] Obreschkow, D., Croton, D., De Lucia, G., Khochfar, S., & Rawlings, S. 2009, ApJ, 698, 1467
- [62] Peng, Y.-j., Lilly, S. J., Kovač, K., et al. 2010, ApJ, 721, 193
- [63] Ootsubo, T., Kawakita, H., Hamada, S., et al. 2012, ApJ, 752, 15.
- [64] Popping, G., Behroozi, P. S., & Peeples, M. S. 2015, MNRAS, 449, 477
- [65] Renzini, A. 2009, MNRAS, 398, L58
- [66] Rodighiero, G., Daddi, E., Baronchelli, I., et al. 2011, ApJ, 739, L40
- [67] Sargent, M. T., Daddi, E., Béthermin, M., & Elbaz, D. 2013, Asociacion Argentina de Astronomia La Plata Argentina Book Series, 4, 116
- [68] Schreiber, C., Pannella, M., Elbaz, D., et al. 2015, A&A , 575, A74
- [69] Scoville, N., Lee, N., Vanden Bout, P., et al. 2017, ApJ, 837, 150
- [70] E. F. Schlafly *et al.*, Astrophys. J. **789**, 15 (2014) doi:10.1088/0004-637X/789/1/15 [arXiv:1405.2922 [astro-ph.GA]].
- [71] Speagle, J. S., Steinhardt, C. L., Capak, P. L., & Silverman, J. D. 2014, ApJS, 214, 15
- [72] Tacconi, L. J., Neri, R., Genzel, R., et al. 2013, ApJ, 768, 74
- [73] Tomczak, A. R., Quadri, R. F., Tran, K.-V. H., et al. 2016, ApJ, 817, 118
- [74] Whitaker, K. E., van Dokkum, P. G., Brammer, G., & Franx, M. 2012, ApJ, 754, L29
- [75] Whitaker, K. E., Franx, M., Leja, J., et al. 2014, ApJ, 795, 104
- [76] Espaillat, C., Furlan, E., D'Alessio, P., Sargent, B., Nagel, E., Calvet, N., Watson, D. M., & Muzerolle, J. 2011, ApJ, 728, 49
- [77] Espaillat, C., et al. 2010, ApJ, 717, 441
- [78] Flaherty, K. M., Muzerolle, J., Rieke, G., Gutermuth, R., Balog, Z., Herbst, W., & Megeath, S. T. 2013, AJ, 145, 66
- [79] Arnouts, S., Cristiani, S., Moscardini, L., et al. 1999, MNRAS, 310, 540.
- [80] Flaherty, K. M., Muzerolle, J., Rieke, G., Gutermuth, R., Balog, Z., Herbst, W., Megeath, S. T., & Kun, M. 2011, ApJ, 732, 83
- [81] McClure, M. K., et al. 2013, ApJ, 775, 114
- [82] Millan-Gabet, R., et al. 2016, ApJ, 826, 120
- [83] Morales-Calderón, M., et al. 2011, ApJ, 733, 50
- [84] Muzerolle, J., Calvet, N., Hartmann, L., & D'Alessio, P. 2003, ApJ, 597, L149
- [85] Muzerolle, J., et al. 2009, ApJ, 704, L15
- [86] Pollack, J. B., Hollenbach, D., Beckwith, S., Simonelli, D. P., Roush, T., & Fong, W. 1994, ApJ, 421, 615
- [87] Arnouts, S., Walcher, C. J., Le Fèvre, O., et al. 2007, A&A , 476, 137.

- [88] Ilbert, O., Arnouts, S., McCracken, H. J., et al. 2006, A&A , 457, 841.
- [89] Stauffer, J., et al. 2014, AJ, 147, 83
- [90] Tannirkulam, A., Harries, T. J., & Monnier, J. D. 2007, ApJ, 661, 374
- [91] Davies, R. I., Sternberg, A., Lehnert, M., & Tacconi-Garman, L. E. 2003, ApJ, 597, 907
- [92] Osterbrock, D. E. 1989, Astrophysics of gaseous nebulae and active galactic nuclei (University Science Books)
- [93] Trac, H. & Cen, R, 2006, Astrophys.J. 671, 1
- [94] M. Ata, F. Baumgarten, J. Bautista, F. Beutler, D. Bizyaev, M. R. Blanton, J. A. Blazek, A. S. Bolton, J. Brinkmann, J. R. Brownstein, E. Burtin, C.-H. Chuang, J. Comparat, K. S. Dawson, A. de la Macorra, W. Du, H. du Mas des Bourboux, D. J. Eisenstein, H. Gil-Marín, K. Grabowski, J. Guy, N. Hand, S. Ho, T. A. Hutchinson, M. M. Ivanov, F.-S. Kitaura, J.-P. Kneib, P. Laurent, J.-M. Le Goff, J. E. McEwen, E.-M. Mueller, A. D. Myers, J. A. Newman, N. Palanque-Delabrouille, K. Pan, I. Pâris, M. Pellejero-Ibanez, W. J. Percival, P. Petitjean, F. Prada, A. Prakash, S. A. Rodríguez-Torres, A. J. Ross, G. Rossi, R. Ruggeri, A. G. Sánchez, S. Satpathy, D. J. Schlegel, D. P. Schneider, H.-J. Seo, A. Slosar, A. Streblyanska, J. L. Tinker, R. Tojeiro, M. Vargas Magaña, M. Vivek, Y. Wang, C. Yèche, L. Yu, P. Zarrouk, C. Zhao, G.-B. Zhao, and F. Zhu. The clustering of the SDSS-IV extended Baryon Oscillation Spectroscopic Survey DR14 quasar sample: first measurement of baryon acoustic oscillations between redshift 0.8 and 2.2. MNRAS, 473:4773–4794, February 2018.
- [95] R. Barnett, S. J. Warren, G. D. Becker, D. J. Mortlock, P. C. Hewett, R. G. McMahon, C. Simpson, and B. P. Venemans. Observations of the Lyman series forest towards the redshift 7.1 quasar ULAS J1120+0641. A&A, 601:A16, May 2017.
- [96] J. Chaves-Montero, S. Bonoli, M. Salvato, N. Greisel, L. A. Díaz-García, C. López-Sanjuan, K. Viironen, A. Fernández-Soto, M. Pović, B. Ascaso, P. Arnalte-Mur, J. Masegosa, I. Matute, I. Márquez, A. J. Cenarro, L. R. Abramo, A. Ederoclite, E. J. Alfaro, A. Marin-Franch, J. Varela, and D. Cristobal-Hornillos. ELDAR, a new method to identify AGN in multi-filter surveys: the ALHAMBRA test case. MNRAS, 472:2085–2106, December 2017.
- [97] X. Fan, C. L. Carilli, and B. Keating. Observational Constraints on Cosmic Reionization. ARA&A, 44:415–462, September 2006.
- [98] Y. Feng, T. Di-Matteo, R. A. Croft, S. Bird, N. Battaglia, and S. Wilkins. The BlueTides simulation: first galaxies and reionization. *MNRAS*, 455:2778–2791, January 2016.
- [99] A. Font-Ribera, E. Arnau, J. Miralda-Escudé, E. Rollinde, J. Brinkmann, J. R. Brownstein, K.-G. Lee, A. D. Myers, N. Palanque-Delabrouille, I. Pâris, P. Petitjean, J. Rich, N. P. Ross, D. P. Schneider, and M. White. The large-scale quasar-Lyman α forest cross-correlation from BOSS. JCAP, 5:018, May 2013.
- [100] D. E. Vanden Berk, G. T. Richards, A. Bauer, M. A. Strauss, D. P. Schneider, T. M. Heckman, D. G. York, P. B. Hall, X. Fan, G. R. Knapp, S. F. Anderson, J. Annis, N. A. Bahcall, M. Bernardi, J. W. Briggs, J. Brinkmann, R. Brunner, S. Burles, L. Carey, F. J. Castander, A. J. Connolly, J. H. Crocker, I. Csabai, M. Doi, D. Finkbeiner, S. Friedman, J. A. Frieman, M. Fukugita, J. E. Gunn, G. S. Hennessy, Ž. Ivezić, S. Kent, P. Z. Kunszt, D. Q. Lamb, R. F. Leger, D. C. Long, J. Loveday, R. H. Lupton, A. Meiksin, A. Merelli, J. A. Munn, H. J. Newberg, M. Newcomb, R. C. Nichol, R. Owen, J. R. Pier, A. Pope, C. M. Rockosi, D. J. Schlegel, W. A. Siegmund, S. Smee, Y. Snir, C. Stoughton, C. Stubbs, M. SubbaRao, A. S. Szalay, G. P. Szokoly, C. Tremonti, A. Uomoto, P. Waddell, B. Yanny, and W. Zheng. Composite Quasar Spectra from the Sloan Digital Sky Survey. AJ, 122:549–564, August 2001.

- [101] D. Waters, T. Di Matteo, Y. Feng, S. M. Wilkins, and R. A. C. Croft. Forecasts for the WFIRST High Latitude Survey using the BlueTides simulation. MNRAS, 463:3520–3530, December 2016.
- [102] 2014DPS....4620101M Meng, H., Su, K. & Rieke, G. 2014, AAS/Division for Planetary Sciences Meeting Abstracts 46, 201.01.
- [103] H. Y. A. Meng, K. Y. L. Su, G. H. Rieke, W. Rujopakarn, G. Myers, M. Cook et al., Planetary Collisions Outside the Solar System: Time Domain Characterization of Extreme Debris Disks, ApJ 805 (May, 2015) 77, [1503.05610].
- [104] Qi, C., Öberg, K. I., Wilner, D. J., et al. 2013, Science, 341, 630.
- [105] Mandelbaum, R., Seljak, U., Cool, R. J., et al. 2006, MNRAS, 372, 758.
- [106] Mandelbaum, R., Slosar, A., Baldauf, T., et al. 2013, MNRAS, 432, 1544.
- [107] Cacciato, M., van den Bosch, F. C., More, S., et al. 2013, MNRAS, 430, 767.
- [108] Pisani, A., Sutter, P. M., Hamaus, N., et al. 2015, Phys. Rev. D , 92, 83531.
- [109] Hamaus, N., Pisani, A., Sutter, P. M., et al. 2016, Phys. Rev. Lett., 117, 91302.
- [110] Sullivan, P. W., Winn, J. N., Berta-Thompson, Z. K., et al. 2015, ApJ, 809, 77.
- [111] Wolfgang, A. & Fortney, J. 2018, American Astronomical Society Meeting Abstracts.
- [112] Stevens, D. J., Gaudi, B. S. & Stassun, K. G. 2017, ArXiv e-prints, arXiv:1712.05046.
- [113] Beatty, T. G., Stevens, D. J., Collins, K. A., et al. 2017, AJ, 154, 25.
- [114] Pepper, J., Siverd, R. J., Beatty, T. G., et al. 2013, ApJ, 773, 64.
- [115] Dello Russo, N., Vervack, R. J., Kawakita, H., et al. 2014, Icarus, 238, 125.
- [116] Bayliss, D., Hartman, J. D., Zhou, G., et al. 2018, AJ, 155, 119.
- [117] Kallinger, T., Hekker, S., Garcia, R. A., et al. 2016, Science Advances, 2, 1500654.
- [118] W. Voges, B. Aschenbach, T. Boller, H. Bräuninger, U. Briel, W. Burkert et al., The ROSAT all-sky survey bright source catalogue, A&A 349 (Sept., 1999) 389–405, [astro-ph/9909315].
- [119] T. Boller, M. J. Freyberg, J. Trümper, F. Haberl, W. Voges and K. Nandra, Second ROSAT all-sky survey (2RXS) source catalogue, A&A 588 (Apr., 2016) A103.
- [120] Caratti o Garatti, A., Stecklum, B., Garcia Lopez, R., et al. 2017, Nature Physics, 13, 276.
- [121] Ribas, A., Merín, B., Bouy, H., et al. 2014, A&A , 561, A54.
- [122] E. S. Rykoff, E. Rozo, M. T. Busha, C. E. Cunha, A. Finoguenov, A. Evrard et al., redMaPPer. I. Algorithm and SDSS DR8 Catalog, ApJ 785 (Apr., 2014) 104, [1303.3562].
- [123] Z. L. Wen, J. L. Han and F. S. Liu, A Catalog of 132,684 Clusters of Galaxies Identified from Sloan Digital Sky Survey III, ApJS 199 (Apr., 2012) 34, [1202.6424].
- [124] B. A. Benson, P. A. R. Ade, Z. Ahmed, S. W. Allen, K. Arnold, J. E. Austermann et al., SPT-3G: a next-generation cosmic microwave background polarization experiment on the South Pole telescope, in Millimeter, Submillimeter, and Far-Infrared Detectors and Instrumentation for Astronomy VII, vol. 9153 of Proc. SPIE, p. 91531P, July, 2014. 1407.2973. DOI.
- [125] S. W. Henderson, R. Allison, J. Austermann, T. Baildon, N. Battaglia, J. A. Beall et al., Advanced ACTPol Cryogenic Detector Arrays and Readout, Journal of Low Temperature Physics (Mar., 2016), [1510.02809].

- [126] Lin, Y.-T., Mohr, J. J., Gonzalez, A. H., et al. 2006, ApJ, 650, L99.
- [127] A. Merloni, P. Predehl, W. Becker, H. Böhringer, T. Boller, H. Brunner et al., eROSITA Science Book: Mapping the Structure of the Energetic Universe, ArXiv e-prints (Sept., 2012), [1209.3114].
- [128] O. Dor et al., Cosmology with the SPHEREX All-Sky Spectral Survey, 1412.4872.
- [129] Salvato, M., Buchner, J., Budavári, T., et al. 2018, MNRAS, 473, 4937.
- [130] Dwelly, T., Salvato, M., Merloni, A., et al. 2017, MNRAS, 469, 1065.
- [131] Lamassa, S. 2016, et al., ApJ, 817, 21.
- [132] Ananna, T. T., Salvato, M., LaMassa, S., et al. 2017, ApJ, 850, 66.
- [133] C. Wolf, K. Meisenheimer, M. Kleinheinrich, A. Borch, S. Dye, M. Gray et al., A catalogue of the Chandra Deep Field South with multi-colour classification and photometric redshifts from COMBO-17, A&A 421 (July, 2004) 913–936, [astro-ph/0403666].
- [134] Y. Taniguchi, N. Z. Scoville, D. B. Sanders, B. Mobasher, H. Aussel, P. Capak et al., The HST Cosmos Project: Contribution from the Subaru Telescope, Journal of Korean Astronomical Society 38 (June, 2005) 187–190, [astro-ph/0503645].
- [135] A. Cava, P. G. Pérez-González, M. C. Eliche-Moral, E. Ricciardelli, A. Vidal-García, B. Alcalde Pampliega et al., SHARDS: A Global View of the Star Formation Activity at z ~ 0.84 and z ~ 1.23, ApJ 812 (Oct., 2015) 155, [1507.07939].
- [136] P. G. Pérez-González, A. Cava, G. Barro, V. Villar, N. Cardiel, I. Ferreras et al., 2013, SHARDS: An Optical Spectro-photometric Survey of Distant Galaxies, ApJ 762 (Jan., 2013), 46–70.
- [137] Kruijer, T. S., Burkhardt, C., Budde, G., et al. 2017, Proceedings of the National Academy of Science, 114, 6712.
- [138] DeMeo, F. E., Binzel, R. P. & Lockhart, M. 2014, Icarus, 227, 112.
- [139] M. Salvato, G. Hasinger, O. Ilbert, G. Zamorani, M. Brusa, N. Z. Scoville et al., Photometric Redshift and Classification for the XMM-COSMOS Sources, ApJ 690 (Jan., 2009) 1250–1263, [0809.2098].
- [140] [Cardamone et al., (2010)] C. N. Cardamone, P. G. van Dokkum, C. M. Urry, Y. Taniguchi,
 E. Gawiser, G. Brammer et al., The Multiwavelength Survey by Yale-Chile (MUSYC): Deep Medium-band Optical Imaging and High-quality 32-band Photometric Redshifts in the ECDF-S, ApJS 189 (Aug., 2010) 270–285, [1008.2974].
- [141] [Salvato et al., (2011)] M. Salvato, O. Ilbert, G. Hasinger, A. Rau, F. Civano, G. Zamorani et al., Dissecting Photometric Redshift for Active Galactic Nucleus Using XMM- and Chandra-COSMOS Samples, ApJ 742 (Dec., 2011) 61, [1108.6061].
- [142] [Fotopoulou et al. (2012)] S. Fotopoulou, M. Salvato, G. Hasinger, E. Rovilos, M. Brusa, E. Egami et al., *Photometry and Photometric Redshift Catalogs for the Lockman Hole Deep Field*, ApJS 198 (Jan., 2012) 1, [1110.0960].
- [143] [Hsu et al. (2014)] L.-T. Hsu, M. Salvato, K. Nandra, M. Brusa, R. Bender, J. Buchner et al., CANDELS/GOODS-S, CDFS, and ECDFS: Photometric Redshifts for Normal and X-Ray-Detected Galaxies, ApJ **796** (Nov., 2014) 60, [1409.7119].
- [144] [Marchesi et al., (2016)] S. Marchesi, F. Civano, M. Elvis, M. Salvato, M. Brusa, A. Comastri et al., The Chandra COSMOS Legacy survey: optical/IR identifications, ApJ 817 (Jan., 2016) 34, [1512.01105].

- [145] [Civano et al., (2011)] F. Civano, M. Brusa, A. Comastri, M. Elvis, M. Salvato, G. Zamorani et al., The Population of High-redshift Active Galactic Nuclei in the Chandra-COSMOS Survey, ApJ 741 (Nov., 2011) 91, [1103.2570].
- [146] Grav, T., Mainzer, A. K., Bauer, J. M., et al. 2010, AAS/Division for Planetary Sciences Meeting Abstracts #42 42, 53.02.
- [147] [Georgakakis et al., (2015)] A. Georgakakis, J. Aird, J. Buchner, M. Salvato, M.-L. Menzel, W. N. Brandt et al., The X-ray luminosity function of active galactic nuclei in the redshift interval z=3-5, MNRAS 453 (Oct., 2015) 1946–1964, [1507.07558].
- [148] Yamamura, I., Tsuji, T. & Tanabé, T. 2010, ApJ , 722, 682.
- [149] B. D. Johnson et al., Astrophys. J. 772, 8 (2013) [arXiv:1305.7243 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [150] C. Conroy, G. Graves and P. van Dokkum, Astrophys. J. 780, 33 (2014) [arXiv:1303.6629 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [151] Byler, N., Dalcanton, J. J., Conroy, C., et al. 2017, ApJ, 840, 44
- [152] Girardi, L., Williams, B. F., Gilbert, K. M., et al. 2010, ApJ , 724, 1030.
- [153] Melbourne, J., Williams, B. F., Dalcanton, J. J., et al. 2012, ApJ, 748, 47.
- [154] Boyer, M. L., Girardi, L., Marigo, P., et al. 2013, ApJ, 774, 83.
- [155] Menzel, M.-L., Merloni, A., Georgakakis, A., et al. 2016, MNRAS, 457, 110.
- [156] Gomes, R., Levison, H. F., Tsiganis, K., et al. 2005, Nature , 435, 466.
- [157] Bieler, A., Altwegg, K., Balsiger, H., et al. 2015, Nature, 526, 678.
- [158] Keeney, B. A., Stern, S. A., A'Hearn, M. F., et al. 2017, MNRAS, 469, S158.
- [159] Bauer, J. M., Stevenson, R., Kramer, E., et al. 2015, ApJ, 814, 85.
- [160] Bockelée-Morvan, D., Crovisier, J., Mumma, M. J., et al. 2004, Comets II, 391.